
 

Please note: Electronic copies of this agenda and its related papers  
are available via the Council’s website www.maldon.gov.uk. 

APOLOGIES Committee Services  DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE AND 
GOVERNANCE 
Paul Dodson  

Email: Committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk  

    
   8 March 2023 

Dear Councillor 

 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 

 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

 

on THURSDAY 16 MARCH 2023 at 7.30 pm 

 

in the Council Chamber, Maldon District Council Offices, Princes Road, Maldon. 

 
Please Note: All meetings will continue to be live streamed on the Council’s YouTube channel for 
those wishing to observe remotely.  Public participants wishing to speak remotely at a meeting can 
continue to do so via Microsoft Teams. 
 
To register your request to speak please submit a Public Access form (to be submitted by 12noon 
on the working day before the Committee meeting).  All requests will be considered on a first-come, 
first-served basis. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP:  

CHAIRMAN Councillor S White 

VICE-CHAIRMAN Councillor M F L Durham, CC 

COUNCILLORS M G Bassenger 
Mrs P A Channer 
A S Fluker 
K M H Lagan 
N G F Shaughnessy 
R H Siddall 
W Stamp, CC 
C Swain 
Mrs M E Thompson 

Unrestricted Document Pack

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/watchlive
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u


 

Page 2 

For further information please see the Council's website. 

AGENDA 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

THURSDAY 16 MARCH 2023 
 
1. Chairman's Notices   
 
2. Apologies for Absence   
 
3. Minutes   
 
 a) 26 January 2023  (Pages 5 - 22) 

 
  To consider the Minutes of the Strategy and Resources Committee held on 26 

January 2023 (copy enclosed). 
 

 b) 9 February 2023 (continuation of meeting on 26 January 2023)  (Pages 23 - 66) 
 

  To consider the Minutes of the Strategy and Resources Committee held on 9 
February 2023 (continuation of the meeting held on 26 January 2023), (copy 
enclosed). 
 

4. Disclosure of Interest   
 
 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other 

Registrable interests and Non-Registrable Interests relating to items of business on 
the agenda having regard to paragraph 9 and Appendix B of the Code of Conduct for 
Members.  
 
(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interests as 
soon as they become aware should the need arise throughout the meeting).  
 

5. Public Participation   
 
 To receive the views of members of the public, of which prior notification in writing has 

been received (no later than noon on the Tuesday prior to the day of the meeting).  
 
Should you wish to submit a question please complete the online form at: 
www.maldon.gov.uk/publicparticipation. 
 

6. Climate Action Plan for 2023 / 24  (Pages 67 - 88) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery, (copy enclosed). 

 
7. Delivering the Corporate Plan 2023 - 2027 Priority - 'Helping the Economy to 

Thrive'  (Pages 89 - 92) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance (copy 

enclosed). 
 

8. Any other items of business that the Chairman of the Committee decides are 
urgent   

 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/publicparticipation


Page 3 

For further information please see the Council's website. 

9. Exclusion of the Public and Press   
 
 To resolve that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that this satisfies the public interest test. 
 

10. Legal Action and Debt Recovery  (Pages 93 - 96) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources (copy enclosed). 

 
11. Burnham-on-Crouch - Long Lease Agreement  (Pages 97 - 98) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery (copy enclosed). 

 
 

 
 

NOTICES 
 
Recording of Meeting 
Please note that the Council will be recording and publishing on the Council’s website any 
part of this meeting held in open session.   
 
Fire 
In the event of a fire, a siren will sound.  Please use the fire exits marked with the green 
running man.  The fire assembly point is outside the main entrance to the Council Offices.  
Please gather there and await further instruction. 
 
Health and Safety 
Please be advised of the different levels of flooring within the Council Chamber.   
 
Closed-Circuit Televisions (CCTV) 
Meetings held in the Council Chamber are being monitored and recorded by CCTV. 

 
 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES of 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
26 JANUARY 2023 

PRESENT 

Chairman Councillor S White 

Vice-Chairman Councillor M F L Durham, CC 

Councillors M G Bassenger, Mrs P A Channer, A S Fluker, K M H Lagan, 
N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, W Stamp, CC, C Swain and 
Mrs J L Fleming, CC 

Substitutes Councillor Mrs J L Fleming CC 

1. CHAIRMAN'S NOTICES

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and went through some general
housekeeping arrangements for the meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTION NOTICE

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mrs M E Thompson and in
accordance with notice duly given Councillor Mrs J L Fleming was attending as her
substitute.

3. MINUTES - 10 AND 28 NOVEMBER 2022

Members were information that a ‘recommendation’ in the Minutes highlighted that an
item was not resolved but for consideration by the Council at its next meeting.

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 10 and 28
November 2022 be approved and confirmed.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST

Councillor Mrs P A Channer advised that in relation to Agenda Item 11 -  Council Tax
Discretionary Discount Levels she had expressed an opinion at national level and
therefore would not participate in the discussion or vote.

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

No requests had been received.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3a



6. NOTICE OF MOTION

The Committee considered the Motion submitted by Councillor A S Fluker as set out on
the Agenda for this meeting.

Councillor Fluker spoke to his Motion and explained how he felt it important for the
Council to consider its Corporate Plan alongside budget setting, especially in light of
the forthcoming District elections and potential new administration in May.  He
proposed that the Council bring forward the 2023 / 24 Budget and a fully costed 2023 -
27 Corporate Plan at the same time and in advance of the 2023 municipal year.  This
was duly seconded by Councillor W Stamp.

Members’ discussed the Motion in depth.  During the debate it was noted that the
Council did have a current Corporate Plan which was fit for purpose and had been
used in preparation of the budget.  The Director of Resources advised that it was
planned for the budget and Corporate Plan to be aligned but to do this before May
would be incredibly challenging due to the public consultation etc. required to bring
forward a Corporate Plan for 2023 – 27.  He explained that although the Council would
be approving the budget any new administration had the gift to make changes to the
budget.

The Chairman moved the Motion in the name of Councillor Fluker.

In accordance with Procedure Rule No. 13 (3) Councillor K M H Lagan requested a
recorded vote.

For the recommendation:
Councillors M G Bassenger, M F L Durham, A S Fluker, K M H Lagan and W Stamp.

Against the recommendation:
Councillors Mrs P A Channer, Mrs J L Fleming, N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall and C
Swain.

Abstention:
Councillor S White.

There being and equality of votes the Chairman exercised her casting vote in support
of the proposal.

RECOMMENDED that the Council brings forward the 2023 / 24 Budget and a fully
costed 2023 - 27 Corporate Plan at the same time and in advance of the 2023
municipal year.

7. CAPITAL AND INVESTMENT STRATEGIES FOR 2023 / 24 AND MINIMUM
REVENUE STATEMENT 2023 / 24

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources seeking Members’
approval of the:

• Capital Strategy 2023 / 24 (attached as Appendix1 to the report);

• Capital Project Bids (Appendix 2 to the report);

• Investment Strategy (Appendix 3 to the report).

• minimum Revenue Provision Statement (Appendix 4 to the report);

Page 6



It was reported that the Capital Strategy had been prepared considering the future 
plans of the Council, ensuring that they were affordable and prudent.  The Annual 
Investment Strategy had been updated in line with statutory requirements and good 
practice, having regard to the Council’s financial position, wider strategies, plans and 
aims and the advice of the Council’s external treasury advisor.   

In response to a number of questions the Director of Resources advised Members that: 

 agenda Item 9 on this agenda provided further detail on the Treasury
Management Strategy which set out counterparty limits currently A-.

 the Council’s internal staff manage the Council’s investment.  Members were
advised that staff receive training through Arlingclose and Members had been
invited to a briefing with these consultants to provide further understanding of
the detailed processes followed.

Members discussed the Capital Project Bids detailed in Appendix 2 and the importance 
of the play equipment and Parks for children within the District was highlighted.  in 
response to comments regarding the bids relating to play equipment, the following 
information was provided by Officers: 

 The Capital Project bids relating to play equipment were to ensure these items
were maintained to the highest possible standard.  The Director of Service
Delivery explained that Members had the choice to either support the Capital
Bid or if not supported the equipment would have to be removed.

 Officers confirmed that they always looked for best value options and the only
other alternative to the requested bids was to replace equipment on a different
scale.

In accordance with Procedure Rule No. 13 (3) Councillor A S Fluker requested a 
recorded vote.  This was duly seconded. 

The Chairman referred to Appendix 2 and moved that Capital Projects 1 – 
Replacement Parks Vehicle for EF04 AFU and 2 – Replacement for Parks NJ59 PRZ 
be agreed.  The voting was as follows:  

For the recommendation: 
Councillors M G Bassenger, Mrs P A Channer, M F L Durham, Mrs J L Fleming, A S 
Fluker, K M H Lagan, N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, W Stamp, C Swain and S 
White. 

Against the recommendation: 
There were none 

Abstention: 
There were none. 

The Chairman then moved that Capital Projects 3 – Prom Park, The Valley, Play 
Galleon and 4 – Play Equipment Prom Park Sensory be agreed.  The voting was as 
follows:  

For the recommendation: 
Councillors M G Bassenger, Mrs P A Channer, M F L Durham, Mrs J L Fleming, K M H 
Lagan, N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, W Stamp, C Swain and S White. 

Against the recommendation: 
Councillor A S Fluker. 

Page 7



Abstention: 
There were none. 

The Chairman then moved that Capital Projects 5 – Riverside Park, Skate Park 
Equipment and Surface and 6 – Riverside Park Play Site Equipment be agreed.  The 
voting was as follows:  

For the recommendation: 
Councillors M G Bassenger, Mrs P A Channer, M F L Durham, Mrs J L Fleming, K M H 
Lagan, N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, W Stamp, C Swain and S White. 

Against the recommendation: 
Councillor A S Fluker. 

Abstention: 
There were none. 

It was therefore agreed that all six Capital Projects would be recommended to the 
Council for approval. 

The Chairman then moved approval of the following Appendices attached to the report, 
namely the Capital Strategy, Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement.  These were duly agreed for recommendation to the Council. 

RECOMMENDED that the following are approved for 2023 / 24: 

 the Capital Strategy (attached as Appendix 1 to the report);

 the Capital Project Bids (attached as Appendix 2 to the report),

 the Investment Strategy (attached as Appendix 3 to the report), and

 the Minimum Revenue Provision Statement (attached as Appendix 4 to the
report).

8. MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2023 / 24 TO 2025 / 26

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources presenting the
revised Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2023 / 24 to 2025 / 26 (Appendix 1 to
the report) to the Committee for recommendation to the Council.

It was noted that this MTFS built on the MTFS for 2022 / 23 to 2023 / 24 approved in
February 2022 by the Council.

Appendix 2 to the report set out the specific details of budget growth items identified as
being required to meet service demand and carry out Council policy.  Members were
advised that these had been scrutinised by the Finance Working Group.  It was
highlighted that the report and Appendix referred to the Working Group having made
decisions, the Director of Resources clarified that this had not happened as the
Working Group was not a decision-making body.  He agreed to amend his report prior
to it being considered by the Council

Members discussed the report in depth.  The Director of Resources referred to his
assurance statement (attached as an Appendix to the Budget Estimates report
(Agenda Item 8c), highlighting how it was unsustainable to constantly use reserves and
although there was an impact due to Covid it was essential for the Council to get back
onto a sustainable footing.

Page 8



Members thanked the Director of Resources for his report and noted the advice given 
in respect of the need for the Council to have a sustainable and balanced budget.   

RECOMMENDED that the updated Medium-Term Financial Strategy for 2022 / 23 to 
2023 / 24 (as at 28 January 2021) attached as Appendix 1 to the report. 

9. 2022 / 23 REVISED AND 2023 / 24 ORIGINAL BUDGET ESTIMATES

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources presenting:

 for noting, the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2023 / 24
announced by the Government on 21 December 2022;

 the revised 2022 / 23 and original 2023 / 24 General Fund Revenue Budget
estimate (attached as Appendices 1, 2 and 3 to the report);

 the proposed Council Tax increase for 2023 / 24 (attached as Appendix 1);

 the policy for the use of Reserves (attached as Appendix 4).

The report and associated appendices to the report outlined the following: 

 the latest information on the provisional Local Government finance settlement 2023
/ 24;

 revised 2022 / 23 and original 2023 / 24 General Fund revenue budget estimates;

 budget growth, savings and income generation in 2023 / 24;

 New Homes Bonus (NHB);

 Pension Fund deficit recovery;

 Essex Region Business Rates pool;

 an update on interest on investments;

 the Council Tax requirement for 2023 / 24;

 Council Tax £6.35 increase on 2022 / 23 Band D Basic amount of £212.40;

 General Fund balance and Revenue Reserves;

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS);

 risks to the Council’s financial position.

The Director of Resources reported that due to the unknown impact of future changes 
to Local Government finance, it was proposed that the Council should take the 
opportunity to increase its financial base by increasing the average band D Council Tax 
by 2.99% (£6.35), the maximum allowed for by the government before a referendum 
was required. 

Councillor A S Fluker referred to the General Fund Balance figures particularly the 
levels for 2024 / 25 and proposed that the Committee consider an additional 
recommendation to highlight that going forward the Council will not be able to maintain 
those figures.  In response the Director of Resources explained the importance to set a 
minimum General Fund budget which would a trigger and warning sign that the Council 
shouldn’t drop below.  Following further debate Councillor Fluker withdrew his 
proposition. 

Page 9



The Chairman moved the recommendations as set out in the report and these were 
duly agreed. 

RECOMMENDED 

(i) that the following be approved:

(a) the Revised 2022 / 23 and Original 2023 / 24 General Fund Revenue
Budget Estimates (attached at Appendices 1 2 and 3 to the report);

(b) an average Band D council tax of £218.75 (excluding parish precepts)
(£6.35 increase) for 2023 / 24 (attached at Appendix 1 to the report);

(c) policies on the designated use of financial reserves (attached at
Appendix 4 to the report);

(d) maintain the current policy of a minimum general fund balance of
£2,600,000;

(ii) that the Council gives due regard to the Director of Resources’ (Section 151
Officer) statement on the robustness of budgets and adequacy of reserves in
attached at Appendix 5 to the report.

10. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2023 / 24

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources presenting the
Treasury Management Strategy 2023 / 24 (attached as Appendix 1 to the report) for
approval by the Council.  The supporting Treasury Management Practices were
attached as Appendix 2 to the report.

It was noted that the Treasury Management Strategy had been updated in line with
statutory requirements and good practice, having regard to the Council’s financial
position, links to wider strategies, plans & aims and the advice of the Council’s external
treasury advisor.

The Director of Resources highlighted the three principles that the Council followed
regarding investments and confirmed that the Council had taken advantage of
increased interest rates, the impact of which is shown in the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy.

The Chairman put the recommendations as set out in the report and this was duly
agreed.

RECOMMENDED that the Treasury Management Strategy 2023 / 24 (attached as
Appendix 1 to the report) be approved.

11. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2023 / 24

The Council considered the report of the Director of Resources seeking Members’
approval of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) and associated polities for
2023 / 24, with minor technical amendments as set out in section 2 of the report.  The
report also sought approval of changes to the Discretionary Discount Scheme to
enable an additional discount of up to £25 to eligible customers.

It was noted that the Scheme was significantly unchanged to support the delivery of a
largely cost neutral LCTS within the proposed budget for 2023 / 24.  Provision had

Page 10



been made to enable changes during the year and an Equality Impact Assessment had 
been carried out. 

Members were reminded of the Council’s Hardship Provision and subject to the 
continuation of funding from Essex County Council (ECC) it was proposed that the 
Council continued to offer this scheme for 2023 / 24.  The framework was attached at 
Appendix 2 to the report. 

In response to questions raised, the Customers, Community and Casework Manager 
provided the Committee with the following information: 

 The cost was neutral, and the Council aimed not to attract any increase year on
year.

 The additional £25 payment was a national scheme and a set amount, the
Council was required to have a policy to identify how it would administer the
scheme.

 There were a number of disregards within the scheme for people that were in
receipt of different types of benefit, some were disregarded fully.

 Customers were able to apply for the Hardship payment but in addition, Officers
scanned application forms to identify and invite applications, where appropriate.

The Chairman then put the recommendation as set out in the report to the Committee 
and this was duly agreed. 

RECOMMENDED 

(i) That the following changes to the existing schemes are approved:

a. a cost of living increase in line with the Department for Work and
Pensions schemes be included in the Local Council Tax Support
Scheme (LCTS) for 2023 / 24 for Pensioners only;

b. that any legislative changes being introduced to the Housing Benefit
Scheme, for 2023 / 24 are mirrored in the Council’s LCTS to ensure
consistency;

c. minor technical amendments to ensure that we are able to administer
the Scheme reflecting current local and national guidance and that we
may disregard anything determined to be a local welfare payment from
our calculation;

d. provision to award up to a £25 discount to eligible LCTS recipients for
2023 / 24 only.

(ii) that these decisions have been made following Members careful reading of and
regard to the Equality Impact Assessment at Appendix 1 to the report;

(iii) that Members note the framework for the Hardship Provision at Appendix 2 to
the report;

(iv) that the Policy document at Appendix 3 to the report, be approved.

12. COUNCIL TAX DISCRETIONARY DISCOUNT LEVELS

At this point Councillor Mrs P A Channer reminded the Committee of her earlier
declaration in relation to this item of business.

Page 11



The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources advising of the 
Government proposal to change aspects of the Council’s powers regarding discounts 
and premiums in terms of how they would be reflected in local Council Taxes and the 
Council Tax Base from1 April 2024.  The report set out proposed changes to the 
Council Tax charges for Empty and Second homes and it was noted that if agreed 
these would encourage bringing homes back into use and support the Districts Housing 
needs. 

The report set out the current, historic and proposed Council Tax Premium in respect of 
empty and unoccupied properties.  It was noted that the imposition of the maximum 
permitted level of Council Tax incentivized the use of a property that might otherwise 
be left empty or occupied infrequently, thereby supporting the Housing needs of the 
District.  The current policies provided for reductions in exceptional circumstances and 
the Council’s discretionary reductions policy was attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

The Chairman put the recommendations as set out in the report and these were duly 
agreed. 

RECOMMENDED 

(i) That the following changes are approved to have effect from 1 April 2024:

a. An empty home premium of 100% is levied on properties empty longer
than one year;

b. The Council Tax for second homes which are no one’s sole or main
residence is increased by 100% through the application of a premium at
the maximum permitted amount.

(ii) That no changes are made to the Councils Section 13a1C discretionary
reduction policy to specifically deal with empty properties which are being
marketed for sale;

(iii) That these decisions are reviewed as part of the budget setting process for
2024 / 25 and annually thereafter.

13. PAY POLICY STATEMENT

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources, seeking the
Council’s approval of a Pay Policy Statement for 2023 (attached as Appendix 1 to the
report).

It was noted to meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 the Council was
required to publish a Pay Policy Statement which had been annually approved by the
elected Members of the Council.  The Pay Policy Statement had been reviewed and
reflected the current arrangements for pay at Maldon District Council.

In response to questions Officers provided the Committee with some further
information including:

 It was a requirement for the Council to provide a pension for staff and all staff
are legible for the Local Government Pension Scheme.

 Any role moving outside of a salary band would be required to follow the agreed
HR process and be reassessed or become a new role.

 Salary bands A – C were below the minimum wage and were therefore not
used.  The Council was committed to paying the minimum wage and those

Page 12



lower salary bands were being topped up to the real living wage. Members were 
advised that the Local Government Association was putting a proposal together 
that nationally the lower two salary bands are deleted to eradicate and issues 
regarding subsistence.   

The Resources Specialist Services Manager agreed to supply Members with details of 
subsistence allowances that had been claimed (for the last year) and the number of 
full-time staff paid between Grades A and C. 

The Chairman put the recommendation as set out in the report and this was duly 
agreed. 

RECOMMENDED that the Pay Policy Statement attached at APPENDIX 1 to these 
Minutes, be adopted for 2023. 

At this point in the meeting, Councillor A S Fluker proposed that the Committee did not 
consider any new business after 10pm.  In response the Chairman noted the proposal 
and advised the Committee that she had some alternative dates for a continuation 
meeting, if required.  

14. MALDON CITIZENS ADVICE - FUNDING REQUEST

The Council considered the report of the Director of Resources seeking Members’
consideration of a request from the Maldon Citizens Advice (MCA) for a review of its
funding.

The report outlined the work of the MCA under the contract it had with the Council.  It
was noted that an increase to funding for 2023 / 24 had been requested to recognise
the additional demands on the service and to help retain experienced debt advisors to
support residents through the current financial difficulties.

The Customers, Community and Casework Manager introduced the report advising
that since its publication the MCA had secured some additional funding and were now
only requesting consideration of an inflationary increase.  The Committee received a
presentation from Mr Wakeling, Chairman of the Board of Trustees of MCA.  During his
presentation Mr Wakeling advised that the additional £14,000 had now been secured
through the National Citizens Advice.  He outlined how the MCA supported the
Council’s commitment to ‘Healthy, Safe and Vibrant Communities’ and provide a strong
return on the Council’s investment.  In response to a question Mr Wakeling informed
Members that the MCA had since June 2022 secured £70,000 of funding.

Several Members referred to the excellent service provided by the MCA and the
savings to the Council as a result of this contract.

Members were advised that as part of the existing contract there was a provision that
within any year the MCA could come back to make a funding request in relation to that
financial year.  It was clarified that the requested 6% inflationary increase, if agreed,
would only be applied to the 2023 / 24 financial year with any future years reverting
back to the fixed contract price of £75,000.  To apply an ongoing inflationary increase
would require a change to the Service Level Agreement and this was not before
Members for consideration.

Councillor Mrs P A Channer referred to the assistance given to the Council by the MCA
and proposed that the Council considered applying an inflationary increase of 6% to
the Advice Services Contract.  This proposal was duly seconded.

Page 13



During the debate that followed it was requested that the following information be 
provided to assist the Council by way of clarification prior to making decision regarding 
the requested increase in funding:  

 Acknowledging that inflation increases were being faced by all business,
clarification was sought as to what the inflationary request related, i.e., staffing.

 Details of the services being provided by Chelmsford Citizens Advice in relation to
the amount of money they received from Chelmsford City Council.

 A breakdown of the accounts for the MCA and Chelmsford Citizens Advice for
comparison purposes.

 Details of the impact on risks to the Council if the Council was not to grant the
inflationary increase or have the MCA.

The Chairman reiterated the great service provided by the MCA and clarified that the 
Committee was not looking to remove this but ensure the Committee had carried out 
due diligence in respect of spending additional tax-payers money.  She then put the 
proposal in the name of Councillor Mrs Channer to the Committee advising that the 
additional information would be requested.  This was duly agreed. 

RECOMMENDED that Members consider applying an inflationary increase of 6% to 
the Advice Services Contract, totaling £4,500. 

15. ADJOURNMENT OF THE MEETING

Councillor A S Fluker proposed that the meeting be adjourned.  Following some
discussion regarding a date for reconvening the meeting it was:

RESOLVED that this meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee be adjourned
at 10:03pm until 7pm on Thursday 9 February 2023.

S WHITE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 14



APPENDIX 1 

Document Control Sheet 

Document title Pay Policy Statement 

Summary of purpose Compliance with Localism Act 

Prepared by Resources Specialist Services Manager 

Status Final 

Version number 11 

Approved by Council 

Approval date 

Date of implementation 1 April 2023 

Review frequency Annual (or as necessary before then) 

Next review date Feb 2024 

Circulation 

Published on the 
Council’s website 

Yes 

Validity Statement 

This document is due for review by the date shown above, after which it may become 
invalid.  

Minute Annex 

Page 15



APPENDIX 1 

Pay Policy Statement 

Note: This Statement has been written to meet the statutory requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011 and to aid transparency in respect of Maldon District Council’s 
policy regarding pay to all staff.  

The Council seeks to be able to recruit and retain employees in a way which is 
competitive and fair. 

1. General policy

1.1 During 2018 the Council initiated a transformation programme. As part of this
a Council wide Job Evaluation exercise was carried out on all posts based on
a uniform set of criteria and placing all roles within a single unified pay scale.
The pay scale was benchmarked and designed to be consistent with best
practice. In accordance with the Council’s constitution, the remuneration of the
Director post’s are set by the Appointments Committee made up of elected
Members of the authority and based upon the above principles.

1.2 The Job Evaluation process was designed to achieve compliance with Equal
Pay legislation and to standardise the contractual terms and conditions of
staff. Remuneration of all Council employees is  governed by agreed  policy
and procedures.

2. Policy on Payments

2.1 Chief Officer Pay

Definition of “Chief Officers” for the purposes of this statement

2.1.1 The term “Chief Officer” as employed in the Localism Act has a different 
meaning to the use made of it at Maldon District Council. For the purposes of 
this Pay Policy Statement only, the relevant posts are considered to be as 
listed below. To note; there is no Chief Executive post in the Maldon structure. 

 The three Director posts

 The Monitoring Officer

2.2 Pay 

2.2.1 Pay for the post of Directors is set by the Appointments Committee and 
approved by the Council. The role of Director was introduced following the 
2014 Senior Management Review and pay set by the Job Evaluation process 
in 2018. The pay line of Directors is subject to the same factors as the rest of 
staff pay, for example any annual pay award granted.  

2.2.2 Any exception to this, such as a proposal to change the pay of senior staff out 
of line with normal pay awards would be subject to a report to the Council and 
approval being given.   

Page 16



APPENDIX 1 

2.2.3 Directors have delegated powers to award discretionary points on an officer’s 
salary scale within approved budgetary limits where they deem it to be in the 
interests of the Authority.  This only applies to points up to the maximum of the 
salary band for that post.  

2.3 Performance related pay and bonuses 

2.3.1 Maldon District Council does not have performance related pay or bonus 
payments for any post.  As there is no mechanism for linking pay and 
performance in this way ‘earn back’ arrangements are not appropriate. 

2.3.2 Salaries are reviewed on an annual basis and any agreed increase is 
published as soon as the agreed increase is known. This will usually be 
backdated to 01 April where this is agreed part way through a year.  

2.3.3 New staff receive an increment after successful completion of their 
probationary period. 

2.3.4 Internal movers may receive an increment at the six months anniversary under 
our performance management scheme. 

2.3.5 Incremental increases are not paid if you are already at the top of your pay 
band, or, if you have received an incremental rise within the previous 6 
months.  

2.4 Fees, allowances, benefits in kind and expenses 

2.4.1 The Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance is also the Returning 
Officer for the District, meaning that the post holder has specific 
responsibilities in respect of all elections and national referenda held in the 
District. These duties attract fees that are variable depending on the election.  
For Parliamentary, Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, European elections 
and national referenda these are set by the Government, for County elections  
by Essex County Council and for District and Parish elections these are set 
locally. 

2.4.2 Apart from this no fees, allowances, benefits in kind or expenses are available 
to the posts listed in 2.1, other than those available to all staff and on the 
same basis.  

2.4.3 Staff appointed as Deputy Returning Officer’s by the Returning Officer can 
receive a proportion of the above fees dependent upon the responsibilities 
undertaken at each separate election. 

2.5 Pension 

2.5.1 All staff are eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme in 
accordance with the terms of that scheme.  No special considerations apply to 
the posts listed in 2.1.  

Page 17



APPENDIX 1 

2.6 Severance payments 

2.6.1 Where senior staff leave in the normal course of business (resignation, 
retirement, etc.) the same procedures would be applied as for any other staff 
member and no additional payments would arise as a result. 

2.6.3 Should a staff member leave as a result of a settlement agreement these, by 
their nature, are subject to negotiation with the individual and their 
representatives and so are variable in their terms.  Such agreements are 
formal legal arrangements and confidentiality binding on both parties is a key 
component, so any payment arising from such an agreement would not be 
published.  Authorisation of the payment would be in accordance with the 
Statutory Guidance on the Making and Disclosure of Special Severance 
Payments, Council’s terms of reference and scheme of delegation and it 
would need to represent value for money for the taxpayer in the 
circumstances.  

2.6.4 Senior staff that were previously employed by the Authority and left with a 
severance or redundancy payment may be re-employed on a consultancy 
basis to cover short term staff pressures where it is considered appropriate 
and in the public interest to do so.  

2.7 Additional Payments 

2.7.1 When recruiting to a senior post the salary offered would be that applicable to 
the grade of the post, as determined by Job Evaluation, and within the 
established pay line.  No additional payments would arise, unless a market 
supplement to enable recruitment was considered justified due to a 
recognised technical skill shortage in the job market.   

2.7.2  In accordance with the guidance set out in the Localism Act, The Strategy and 
Resources Committee should be given the opportunity to vote before large 
salary packages (£100k or above) are offered in respect of a new 
appointment.   

2.8 Monitoring Officer 

2.8.1 The Monitoring Officer is not subject to any additional payment. 

2.9 Publication of remuneration of senior staff 

2.9.1 This Pay Policy Statement, once approved by the Council, will be published 
on the Council’s website. 

2.9.2 The remuneration and pension contributions of the Directors are published 
annually in the Financial Statements of the Authority, along with the numbers 
of employees whose remuneration and pension contributions are £50,000 and 
over. These are placed on the Council’s website.   

Page 18



APPENDIX 1 

3. Lowest paid staff and Real Living Wage

3.1 Definition

3.1.1 Maldon District Council are committed to paying the Real Living Wage 
currently this is £10.90 per hour. Staff in Pay Bands A to C, on spinal points 1 
to 9 are paid a supplement to bring their hourly rate of pay up to that of the 
Real Living Wage rate.  The increased rate to £10.90 per hour was paid to 
employees from 01 October 2022.  

3.2 Pay Policy in respect of lowest paid staff 

3.2.1 No special considerations apply to the lowest paid staff.  They are subject to 
identical terms and conditions, procedures and policies as all other staff.  In 
some cases, these policies give slightly different benefits to different levels of 
staff.  For example, for the lowest five pay bands (A to E) enhanced pay rates 
for overtime are paid.  No enhancement above grade E is paid. In contrast the 
basic amount of annual leave increases with grade bands. 

The Council employs Apprentices, but these are not included within the 
definition of ‘lowest paid employees’ and are not subject to the living wage 
rate as they are paid the legal pay rate for Apprentices.   

4. Pay Ratio’s

4.1 The Pay Multiple is the ratio between the highest taxable earnings and the
median earnings figure for the whole authority in accordance with the
Transparency Code 2014.

4.2 Maldon, as at January 2023, has the ratio between the Director salary and the
median of all staff as 1:3.4. The Government has considered setting twenty to
one as a maximum. As Maldon District’s Council’s rate is currently below this
amount it is not considered necessary to have a specific policy concerning the
pay multiple. If the multiple starts to rise, for example above five to one, this
could be reconsidered.

5. Pay Award

5.1 The National Joint Council (NJC) negotiates pay on behalf of Local
Government and Maldon District Council are committed to paying its
employees the nationally agreed pay award each year. The award for 2022-
2023 was a sum of £1,925 paid for all staff, pro rata for part time staff and not
applicable for those staff on the real living wage rate or on apprentice pay
rates. The award for 2023 – 2024 had not yet been finalised.

5.2 Employees who have left the Council’s employment prior to their pay award
being implemented may submit a written request for payment of monies owing
to them.

Page 19



APPENDIX 1 

6 Other pay 

6.1  Honorarium payments may be awarded where an employee is undertaking 
additional duties such as covering a post at a higher level for a temporary 
period in recognition of an employee taking on a special project or role. 

6.2 Information on the Council’s policies on Occupational sick pay and maternity, 
shared parental leave, paternity and adoption leave can be obtained from the 
Council’s Human Resources Team. 

7 Other benefits 

7.1 All employees have access to an Employee Assistance Programme which 
provides access to Counselling services for example 

8 Reimbursement of expenditure 

8.1 All employees are required to make the best use of council resources and are 
obliged to consider the most cost-effective option when incurring any 
expenditure in the course of their duties. 

8.2 Subsistence allowances are payable when employees incur additional 
expenditure on meals because they have been unable to follow their normal 
meal arrangements whilst out on business. 

8.3 Examples of where an employee may need to incur expenditure on meals are 
as follows: 

 Attendance at training courses or seminars where meals or refreshments
aren’t provided

 Site visits

 Meetings at other organisations

 Travelling to locations as part of official duties

8.4 Subsistence amounts are stated in the Council’s Mileage and Expenses 
Policy.  

9 Pensions 

9.1 General details of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) are 
available from Human Resources. Both the employee joining the scheme and 
the Council contribute to the scheme.  

9.2 The rules under which auto-enrolment operates will continue to apply to all 
Council employees. Eligible staff will be automatically enrolled unless they 
choose to opt out. This exercise will be repeated every three years on the 
anniversary of each eligible employee’s enrolment.  

Page 20



APPENDIX 1 

9.3 The Council’s pension scheme is administered by Essex County Council. 
They are contactable on: 01245 431912, e- mail:  
pensionenquiries@essex.gov.uk or on their website:  
www.essexpensionfund.co.uk 

10 Conclusion 

10.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires relevant authorities in England and Wales to 
prepare a Pay Policy Statement for each subsequent financial year. This 
paper sets out the Council’s policy statement on pay for employees.  The next 
statement will be reported to Full Council for their approval next year.  

10.2.  Should there be a need to amend the existing Pay Policy Statement during the 
course of the year an appropriate recommendation will be made to Full 
Council. 

Current Salary Bands 2022-23 

Grade SCP 
1 April 2022 

Pay 
Monthly Hourly 

Time & 
Half 

Double 

A A1 1 17332.88 1444.41 8.98 13.48 17.97 

Th
e R

eal Livin
g W

age £
1

0
.90

 

A2 2 18173.92 1514.49 9.42 14.13 18.84 

A3 3 18317.14 1526.43 9.49 14.24 18.99 

A4 4 18843.72 1570.31 9.77 14.65 19.53 

B B5 5 19040.80 1586.73 9.87 14.80 19.74 

B6 6 19651.38 1637.61 10.19 15.28 20.37 

B7 7 19792.45 1649.37 10.26 15.39 20.52 

B8 8 20387.43 1698.95 10.57 15.85 21.13 

C C9 9 20668.95 1722.41 10.71 16.07 21.43 

C10 10 21522.06 1793.51 11.16 16.73 22.31 

C11 11 22387.97 1865.66 11.60 17.41 23.21 

C12 12 23343.46 1945.29 12.10 18.15 24.20 

D D13 13 23685.77 1973.81 12.28 18.42 24.55 

D14 14 24488.76 2040.73 12.69 19.04 25.39 

D15 15 25289.63 2107.47 13.11 19.66 26.22 

D16 16 26090.48 2174.21 13.52 20.29 27.05 

E E17 17 26436.00 2203.00 13.70 20.55 27.40 

E18 18 27043.84 2253.65 14.02 21.03 28.04 

E19 19 27657.02 2304.75 14.34 21.50 28.67 

E20 20 28266.99 2355.58 14.65 21.98 29.30 

F F21 21 28840.70 2403.39 14.95 

F22 22 29756.74 2479.73 15.42 

F23 23 30673.83 2556.15 15.90 

F24 24 31587.73 2632.31 16.37 

G G25 25 31705.03 2642.09 16.43 

G26 26 33229.97 2769.16 17.22 

G27 27 34758.11 2896.51 18.02 

Page 21

http://www.essexpensionfund.co.uk/


APPENDIX 1 

Grade SCP 
1 April 2022 

Pay 
Monthly Hourly 

Time & 
Half 

Double 

G28 28 36286.25 3023.85 18.81 

H H29 29 37430.48 3119.21 19.40 

H30 30 39148.44 3262.37 20.29 

H31 31 40865.33 3405.44 21.18 

H32 32 42585.42 3548.78 22.07 

I I33 33 43157.00 3596.42 22.37 

I34 34 44885.92 3740.49 23.27 

I35 35 46592.91 3882.74 24.15 

I36 36 48311.94 4025.99 25.04 

J J37 37 48884.59 4073.72 25.34 

J38 38 50794.50 4232.87 26.33 

J39 39 52702.27 4391.86 27.32 

J40 40 54611.11 4550.93 28.31 

K K41 41 55182.69 4598.56 28.60 

K42 42 57282.41 4773.53 29.69 

K43 43 59382.14 4948.51 30.78 

K44 44 61481.86 5123.49 31.87 

L L45 45 62055.59 5171.30 32.17 

L46 46 63772.48 5314.37 33.05 

L47 47 65491.49 5457.62 33.95 

L48 48 67208.38 5600.70 34.84 

M M49 49 68354.76 5696.23 35.43 

M50 50 69880.76 5823.40 36.22 

M51 51 71407.83 5950.65 37.01 

M52 52 72935.97 6078.00 37.80 

N N53 53 80723.82 6726.99 41.84 

N54 54 82900.33 6908.36 42.97 

N55 55 85075.76 7089.65 44.10 

N56 56 87252.27 7271.02 45.23 

O O57 57 89384.73 7448.73 46.33 

O58 58 91570.84 7630.90 47.46 

O59 59 93812.35 7817.70 48.63 

O60 60 96110.31 8009.19 49.82 

P P61 61 105569.83 8797.49 54.72 

P62 62 108752.27 9062.69 56.37 

P63 63 111931.59 9327.63 58.02 

P64 64 115114.03 9592.84 59.67 

Page 22



MINUTES of 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
9 FEBRUARY 2023 

PRESENT 

Chairman Councillor S White 

Councillors M G Bassenger, Mrs P A Channer, A S Fluker, K M H Lagan, 
N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, W Stamp, CC and C Swain 

1. RESUMPTION OF BUSINESS IN OPEN SESSION

RESOLVED that the meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee resume in
open session.

2. CORRECTION OF INFORMATION

At this point the Chairman invited Councillor A S Fluker to correct some information
that he provided during the earlier session on 26 January 2023.

Councillor Fluker advised that during the discussion on the Maldon Citizen Advice –
Funding Request he had referenced a member of staff being paid £60,000, this was
incorrect, and he apologised to the Citizens Advice Bureau if it had caused any
problems for them.  He clarified that he should have said there were 14 part-time
members of staff and that on average they are paid £17,000 per annum.

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTION NOTICE

The Chairman reported that apologies had been received from Councillors M F L
Durham and Mrs M E Thompson.  In accordance with notice duly given Councillor Mrs
J L Fleming was attending as a substitute for Councillor Mrs Thompson.

4. DATA MANAGEMENT AND INSIGHT STRATEGY

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Strategy, Performance and
Governance seeking Members’ approval to adopt a Data Management and Insight
Strategy (the Strategy) attached as Appendix B to the report, in response to national
and regional direction on the issue, and seek Member promotion of the issues covered,
and focus on data driven decisions.

It was noted that the UK National Data Strategy set out best practice for use of data
and insight, providing direction to authorities on how they might best use data. Essex
partners had been developing the Essex Data Declaration (attached as Appendix A to
the report), in line with the National Strategy and Officers were recommending that the
Council signed up to this to link the Council to national best practice and improve
access to insight across the County.

Page 23

Agenda Item 3b



Additionally, Officers had developed the Strategy (Appendix B) setting out an ambition 
to be more data-driven and identifying the Council’s specific strengths and 
weaknesses. Should this Strategy be approved, officers would also develop an internal 
action plan against the four priorities set out in the Strategy to report through the 
Performance Governance and Audit Committee.  

A lengthy debate ensued.  During the discussion the Programmes, Performance and 
Governance Manager provided Members with further information including: 

 Key areas for data sharing would be identified with partner organisations in
order to drive services and assist in identifying how best to deliver the Strategy.

 Raw data would not be shared, sharing would relate to insights such as the
recent residents’ survey and comparison with other Essex surveys.

 The Strategy contained a section regarding adopting data integrity and security
which would be both General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and data
security compliant.  Part of the role of the Strategy was to highlight how the
Council was GDPR compliant and correctly storing data.

 The Essex Data Declaration had been brought together through an Officer
Working Group and been through all Essex Authorities to seek sign up to it.

 Officers were not aware of any proposed changes to the National Strategy.

 Members and Officers were able to access data through presentation such as
mapping tools etc.

There was some concern raised from Members that further information was required 
and a brief discussion ensued regarding deferring the item of business.   

Councillor R H Siddall proposed that the recommendations as set out in the report be 
agreed.  This was duly seconded and upon a vote being taken agreed. 

RESOLVED 

(i) That the Council signs up to the Essex Data Declaration (as set out in Appendix
A to the report);

(ii) That the Internal Data Management and Insight Strategy (Appendix B to the
report) be approved;

(iii) That the Committee recommends referral to the Performance, Governance and
Audit Committee for action plan review and tracking due to links in Committee
responsibilities, and circulation of the Strategy to all Members to promote a data
driven approach / awareness.

5. NEW FEE FOR THE COLLECTION OF WASTE UPHOLSTERED DOMESTIC
SEATING CONTAINING PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
agreement to introduce a new fee and charge for the separate collection of Waste
Upholstered Domestic Seating (WUDS) containing Persistent Organic Pollutants
(POPS).

The report provided background information following an instruction to all local
authorities from the Environment Agency (EA) that all WUDS must be collected
separately from other waste and sent for incineration.  The impacts on the existing

Page 24



Waste and Recycling Contract and Street Cleansing Contract were set out in the 
report.  Three options for Members’ consideration to ensure these materials were 
collected separately were also detailed.  It was noted that following discussions with 
the Council’s Waste and Recycling contractor Officers were proposing that an 
additional charge per item for WUDS be agreed. 

In response to some questions raised, Members were advised that the proposed fee 
would be on top of the current charge for collection of large items but would be per 
collection.  This was due to the need to collect and store such items separately.  It was 
noted that WUDS could be taken to recycling centres where they would be stored of 
and disposed of appropriately. 

The Chairman put the recommendations as set out in the report and these were duly 
agreed. 

RESOLVED 

(i) That an additional fee of £14.50 be added to the list of Fees and Charges for
2023 / 24 for mixed bulky waste requests containing Waste Upholstered
Domestic Seating (WUDS) to ensure that collections costs are covered for their
separate collection as per guidance provided by the Environment Agency;

(ii) That Members note the new fee will be introduced for the last two months of the
2022 / 23 financial year (predicted income would fall within limits set under
Delegation) to ensure the service can be offered to the public as soon as
possible.

6. STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION - LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW:
ISSUES AND OPTIONS DOCUMENT

Councillor Mrs P A Channer declared an interest in this item of business and in
particular the consultation responses as a friend, many acquaintances and her
husband had responded to the consultation.  She advised that these were their own
views and did not stop her from commenting on the report.

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Strategy, Performance and
Governance seeking Members’ review of the Statement of Consultation (attached at
Appendix 1 to the report) with regards to the Regulation 18 Issues and Options
Document which was subject to public consultation between 17 January and 14 March
2022.  Approval of the document would support the delivery of a lawful and sound
Maldon District Local Development Plan (LDP) Review.

The report provided detailed background relating to the Council approving a review of
the Maldon District LDP and the public consultation undertaken.  Appendix 2 to the
report provided detail of the statutory consultee responses received in relation to the
Consultation.

A lengthy debate ensued and in response to a number of questions the Lead Specialist
Planning Policy and Implementation provided the Committee with the following
additional information:

 The consultation responses were in the public domain through this report but
would only be used once the process of the LDP work had started.

 The Council would be publishing its responses to the response from Essex
County Council (ECC).  In addition, the Council attends Duty to Cooperate

Page 25



meeting with ECC and their response to the Council’s policy would be iterative. 
Comments received were accurate at that point in time. 

Councillor K M H L Lagan proposed that the recommendation to the Council be 
amended and that the Committee should recommend the Statement of Consultation be 
noted rather than approved.  This was duly seconded.  The Officer confirmed that as 
long as the Council could show the document had been through the relevant process 
then to note it was fine. 

The Officer clarified that although the report referred to the Issues and Options 
Consultation Document 2021 the report was not seeking agreement of anything related 
to the Local Development Plan as this would come forward at a later date. 

Following further discussion, the Chairman put the proposal in the name of Councillor 
Lagan to the Committee, and this was duly agreed. 

RECOMMENDED to the Council, that the the Statement of Consultation on the Maldon 
District Local Development Plan Review - Regulation 18 Issues and Options Document 
(attached as APPENDIX 1 to these Minutes) be approved. 

7. SOUTH ESSEX PARKING PARTNERSHIP - OPERATIONAL RESERVE - PARKING
PROJECT PROPOSALS

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources seeking Members’
approval to progress an application for utilising part of the Operational Reserve of
£186,000 from the South Essex Parking Partnership (SEPP) for three parking projects,
as follows:

 Repairs to car park surfaces at Butt Lane and White Horse ...... £137,500 

 Feasibility study for a potential additional Car Park ................... £28,000 

 Delivery of a Car Park Charging Strategy ................................. £7,200 

It was noted that use of the Operational Reserve was restricted to expenditure which 
fell within Section 55 of the Road Traffic Act 1984. 

The report provided background information regarding the SEPP and noted its success 
particularly in its generation of additional investment and an operational Reserve.  It 
was noted that the Operational Reserve did not have to be used in the current financial 
year and would remain available to access for further / future projects. 

During the debate that followed Officers provided further clarification on the proposal 
including: 

 The monies had to be spent on car parking highways related issues.

 Officers had followed the same process used when surplus monies were
previously available.  It was noted that the previous surplus had funded pay and
display equipment in the Council’s car parks.

 The Car Parking Working Group had a focus on fees and charges.

Councillor R H Siddall expressed concern that the surplus did not have to be spent on 
car parking and could be used for environmental projects and other things.  He noted 
that the car parking surfaces had already been budgeted for out of Council 
expenditure.  He then proposed that this item of business be deferred from the 
Committee and a representative of the SEPP be invited to attend a meeting of the Car 

Page 26



Parking Working Group to consider options for how the monies were spent.  This 
proposal was duly seconded. 

Councillor A S Fluker spoke about the total figure being within the Council’s budget and 
proposed that the Council’s application to the SEPP be submitted but that the £172,700 
within the General Fund be ring-fenced for highways projects. 

In response to discussion, the Director of Service Delivery clarified that the figure for 
repairs to car parking surfacing was included within the budget (capital receipts).  
However, the figures for a feasibility study and car park charging strategy were not and 
would effectively be new projects coming forward for Members’ consideration in the 
future.   

Following further discussion Councillor S White proposed an amendment to the 
proposal from Councillor Siddall but this was not supported. 

The Chairman then put the proposal in the name of Councillor Siddall to the 
Committee.  Upon a vote being taken this was not agreed. 

Councillor Fluker repeated his earlier proposition that the recommendations be agreed 
and ring-fence the surplus amount for funding future projects.  Following further debate, 
the Chairman moved this proposal which was duly agreed. 

RESOLVED 

(i) that the three projects detailed below are supported, and an application is
submitted to the South Essex Parking Partnership to utilise the Operational
Reserve to fund these projects, all of which fall within Section 55 of the Road
Traffic Act 1984:

 Repairs to car park surfaces at Butt Lane and White Horse ... £137,500

 Feasibility study for a potential additional Car Park ................ £28,000 

 Delivery of a Car Park Charging Strategy ............................... £7,200 

(ii) That the £137,500 currently within the Council’s budget be ring-fenced for
funding future related projects.

8. SUPPLEMENTARY ESTIMATES, VIREMENTS, PROCUREMENT EXEMPTIONS
AND USE OF RESERVES: 1 OCTOBER - 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources reporting that
during the above period the following had been agreed:

 three virements;

 one supplementary revenue estimate;

 one procurement exemption;

 one draw down from reserves.

In response to a query raised regarding the procurement exemption relating to 
navigation buoy service, the Director of Service Delivery advised this related to a 
number of navigation buoys on the Blackwater Estuary which the Council had a 
responsibility for maintaining and to which urgent work was required.  The Director 
advised that Committee that he would have full statement circulated to Members 

Page 27



providing further background information regarding this matter and the work 
undertaken.  Councillor A S Fluker raised a number of concerns regarding the 
Procurement Exemption and proposed that the matter be referred to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The Chairman advised Councillor Fluker that this was not a 
matter for the Committee but something he could report himself. 

The Chairman moved the recommendations set out in the report and these were duly 
agreed. 

RESOLVED 

(i) That the Virements as detailed in paragraph 3.3.1 of the report be received;

(ii) That the Supplementary Estimates as detailed in paragraph 3.4.1 of the report
be received;

(iii) That the Procurement Exemptions as detailed in paragraph 3.5.1 of the report
be received;

(iv) That the drawdown from Reserves as detailed in paragraph 3.6.1 of the report
be received.

9. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE
DECIDES ARE URGENT

The Chairman announced that in accordance with Section 100b(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 she had agreed to allow the Director of Service Delivery to raise
an urgent item of business.  This business was of a private and confidential matter and
would therefore be considered following Agenda Item 21.

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

RESOLVED that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of
Part 1of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that this satisfies the public interest test.

11. ADJOURNMENT OF THE MEETING

RESOLVED that the meeting be adjourned at 8:56pm for a short break.

12. RESUMPTION OF BUSINESS IN CLOSED SESSION

RESOLVED that the meeting resume in closed session at 9pm.

13. RETENTION PAYMENTS

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
approval for the introduction of retention payments in accordance with business need.

Page 28



The report provided background information regarding market supplements which were 
used to attract suitably qualified and experienced applicants to hard to fill roles.  The 
proposed introduction of retention payments was set out in the report and it was noted 
that if approved the policy would allow the Council to be able to respond to retention 
difficulties with agility in accordance with identified need. 

Councillor Mrs P A Channer proposed that the recommendations as set out in the 
report be agreed.  This proposal was duly seconded. 

Councillor A S Fluker proposed an amendment to the proposal that such payments 
should be signed off by the Director of Resources / Section 151 Officer or his deputy. 
This was not supported. 

In response to question from Councillor Fluker, Officers provided detail regarding the 
recruitment process and advertisement of vacancies.  Officers agreed to feedback to 
Human Resources the suggestion to add a note to the Council’s website asking people 
to contact the Council for any vacancies.  The Chairman referred to proactively 
advertising vacancies on the Council’s website and requested that Officers take this 
forward as an action from the Committee. 

The Chairman moved the proposal in the name of Councillor Mrs Channer, and this 
was duly agreed.  Councillor K M H Lagan requested that his vote against the proposal 
be recorded. 

RESOLVED 

(i) That approval is given to the introduction of retention payments for ‘hard to fill
roles’, in accordance with the current policy of the payment of market
supplements of up to 15% of salary on the recruitment to hard to fill roles;

(ii) That the recruitment and retention policy be reviewed within 12 months.

14. URGENT BUSINESS: BURNHAM-ON-CROUCH - LONG LEASE AGREEMENT

The Committee considered the urgent report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
Members’ consideration of a change to a current long lease agreement in Burnham-on-
Crouch.  Members’ noted the reason this report was brought forward as urgent
business.

The report detailed a request that had been received to consider an amendment to the
long lease agreement and provided further information regarding this.

In response to a Point of Order and questions raised the Senior Specialist – Legal
provided the Committee with further information regarding the request and reason for
urgency.

The Chairman proposed that this matter be deferred as she didn’t feel the Committee
had sufficient information to determine it.  This was not supported.

Councillor A S Fluker proposed that the recommendations not be supported.  This was
not seconded.

The Chairman withdrew her earlier proposal at this point and put the proposal as set
out in the report to the Committee.  Following a vote being taken this motion was lost
and therefore the request not agreed.

Page 29



RESOLVED that request to grant an automatic right to renew the lease for the site set 
out in the report not be agreed. 

There being no other items of business the Chairman closed the meeting at 9.30 pm. 

S WHITE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 30



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 1 

STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

ON THE ISSUES AND OPTIONS DOCUMENT 

DECEMBER 2022 

Minute Annex L

Page 31



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 2 

Table of Contents 
1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 QUESTIONS 1 to 7 SUMMARY ........................................................................................... 4 

3.0 QUESTIONS 8 TO 14 AND QUESTION 17 SUMMARY ........................................... 7 

4.0 QUESTIONS 15 AND 16 SUMMARY ..............................................................................11 

5.0 QUESTIONS 18 TO 22 SUMMARY ..................................................................................15 

6.0 QUESTIONS 23 AND 24 SUMMARY ..............................................................................17 

7.0 QUESTIONS 25 AND 26 SUMMARY ..............................................................................19 

8.0 QUESTIONS 27 TO 30 SUMMARY ..................................................................................20 

9.0 QUESTIONS 31 TO 33 SUMMARY .............................................................................22 

10.0 QUESTIONS 34 TO 38 SUMMARY .............................................................................23 

11.0 QUESTIONS 39 TO 42 SUMMARY .............................................................................26 

12.0 QUESTIONS 43 TO 51 SUMMARY .............................................................................28 

13.0 QUESTIONS 52 TO 60 SUMMARY .............................................................................32 

Page 32



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 3 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Council is reviewing its Local Development Plan (LDP).  The present 

LDP was approved on the 17 July 2017.   

1.2 The Issues and Options Document Consultation was carried out in 

accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Regulation 18 represents the first 

statutory stage in preparing a Local Plan/LDP and specifies who must be 

notified of the preparation of the plan and that relevant stakeholders must 

be invited to make representations on the content of the plan and that 

these representations must be considered. 

1.3 The consultation ran from 17 January 2022 to 14 March 2022.  There were 

490 respondents.  This Statement sets out a broad summary of the 

comments for all the questions raised in the consultation. Some of the 

questions which were similar to each other are grouped together.  A full 

table of the responses is appended to this document, including the 

response from Essex County Council. 

1.4 Some comments received were of either a defamatory or discriminatory 

nature and have been redacted from the Statement of Consultation’s 

Appendix. A separate record of all redacted comments has been kept for 

audit purposes.  

2.0 Respondents Profile Summary 

2.1 In terms of the consultation the breakdown of those making comments is 
as follows. 

 Members of the public 361

 Parish Councils 21
 Developers 17
 Businesses 16

 Statutory Consultees 15
 Special Interest Groups 10

 Planning Agents 7
 Promotors 7

 Local Authorities 6
 Community Groups 2

2.2 The demographic age of respondents was in order of the number of 
respondents, as follows. 

 Age not given 107
 55 – 64 = 104

 65 – 74 = 79
 45 – 54 = 72

 75+ = 47
 25 – 34 = 20
 18 – 24 = 4

Page 33



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 4 

2.3 The gender split in regard to respondents were as follows. 

 Male – 210
 Female – 164

 Age not given – 94

2.4 In terms of ethnicity of the respondents. 

 Not given – 121

 White – 337
 Mixed – 6
 Indian - 1

 Chinese – 1

2.5 The Council will use these figures as a baseline against future 
consultations for the   review of the LDP and is going to be carrying out some 
additional consultation work for the age group below 18 as there were nil 

responders from this demographic cohort. 

3.0 Duty to Cooperate Bodies 

3.1 With regard to the Duty to Cooperate Bodies there were 11 respondents. 

These were as follows. 

 Essex County Council.

 Chelmsford City Council

 Basildon District Council

 Sport England

 Colchester Borough Council

 Rochford District Council

 Historic England

 National Grid

 Natural England

 Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership

 Essex County Fire and Rescue Service

 East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust

 NHS Property Services Ltd

 Environment Agency

 Highways England

3.2 Where comments related to the Vision, Issues and Objectives of the LDP, 

these where possible will be incorporated into an updated version.  Where 

comments related to any incorrect facts these have been amended.  All the 

other comments have been noted and will form the basis for ongoing discussions 

with Duty to Cooperate Bodies as necessary or be incorporated into emerging 

policy. 

2.0 QUESTIONS 1 to 7 SUMMARY 

Page 34



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 5 

2.1 The first seven questions of the Issues and Options Consultation 

correspond to the first part of the reviewed LDP. These are. 

 Spatial Picture of the District

 Strategic and Cross Boundary Issues

 District Issues

 Vision

 Objectives

2.2 Question 1 - Do you agree with this spatial picture of the District? 

2.3 Question 2 – Are the issues still relevant? 

2.4 Question 3 - Do you consider these to be the extent of strategic and 

cross boundary issues applicable for the Maldon District? 

Yes 
64% 

No 
24% 

Don`t 
know 
12% 

Yes 
70% 

No 
16% 

Don`t 
know 
14% 

Page 35



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 6 

2.5 Question 4 - Are these key issues the right ones or are there any key 

issues that you think have been missed? 

2.6 Question 5 – Do you agree with the amended Vision? 

2.7 Question 6 – Do you agree with the objectives of the LDP Review? 

Yes 
40% 

No 
40% 

Don`t 
know 
20% 

Yes 
56% No 

27% 

Don`t 
know 
17% 

Yes 
55% 

No 
45% 

Page 36



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 7 

2.8 Question 7 – Are there other objectives that the LDP should aim to 

achieve? 

2.9 There were a number of comments made from respondents concerning 

the above sections of the LDP Review. In the main the consultation mood 

was quite positive, however there were a lot of comments through the 

majority of public responses about not wishing to see any further growth 

in the District at all and various questions as to why infrastructure in 

general is not being delivered now. The concern about infrastructure 

delivery, is a priority indicator that the Council needs to have closer 

scrutiny over as the LDP Review moves forward. 

2.10 

3.0 QUESTIONS 8 TO 14 AND QUESTION 17 SUMMARY 

3.1 Question 8 - Do you agree with the Council using the standard 

methodology in the calculation of its housing target for the period 2023 – 

2043? 

Yes 
58% 

No 
30% 

Don`t 
know 
12% 

Yes 
57% 

No 
22% 

Don`t 
know 
21% 

Page 37



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 8 

3.2 There were quite a few of the consultees who believed that the amount of 

housing required should be less that the National Planning Policy 

Framework’s (NPPF) standard methodology suggests.  There was also 

some concern about the shortage of affordable housing in the District and 

suggestions that other surrounding authorities should take the District`s 

housing growth because they have more services and facilities.  

3.3 The minimum housing requirement for a local planning authority is set out 

in the Government’s NPPF Standard Methodology.  In 2022, this is a floor 

not a ceiling target and the starting point for calculation in a LDP Review.  

The Council will be updating the Local Housing Needs Assessment prior to 

setting its final housing requirement for the LDP Review when the matter 

will be reviewed alongside the amount of affordable housing needed 

across the plan period and any changes to national policy.   

3.4 The Council is meeting neighbouring authorities and other public bodies 

regarding the Duty to Co-operate and has to give due consideration to 

them if they requested that the District accommodate some of their 

growth. This is in accordance with the Greater Essex Unmet Housing 

Needs Protocol which was negotiated and agreed countywide as part of 

the Duty to Co-operate. At the present time there is no evidence that the 

District cannot accommodate its own growth needs, but further work 

remains outstanding to test this thoroughly. 

3.5 Question 9 - Should the Council have a contingency or buffer figure in its 

housing target to ensure that it always has a continuous supply of housing 

over the plan period and if so, what should that buffer be? 

Yes 
36% 

No 
39% 

Don`t 
know 
25% 

Yes 
36% 

No 
39% 

Don’t 
know 
25% 

Page 38



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 9 

3.6 Discounting those comments that did not know, there was a fairly even 

split response as to whether a buffer should be included.  

3.7 The recommended buffer from the Homes Building Federation is 20% but 

one of the consultees suggested as a starting point that the council should 

be analysing past delivery, which is a sound principle in terms of 

assessing a suitable buffer. If this was to be followed, at the present time 

the District has a shortfall of housing which is approximately 10% of what 

should have been delivered since 2014.  

3.8 Question 10 - Should the plan period be longer than 15 years, should the 

period be 20 years, so that infrastructure can be planned in over a longer 

period? 

3.9 There were mixed views given by consultees over how long the plan 

should run for. Answers of between 15, 20 and for some 30 years were 

suggested.  There were also quite a number of comments concerning the 

perceived lack of infrastructure provision that had come forward in the 

present plan period which looked forward 15 years.   

3.12 The following three questions refer to the Settlement Pattern 

Question 11 - Do you agree with the updated Settlement Pattern and 

how the settlements in the District have been grouped together? 

Yes 
49% 

No 
35% 

Don’t 
know 
16% 

Page 39



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 10 

Question 12 – If you do not agree how should they be grouped together 

This question was answered 178 times. 

Question 13 - Referring to the table on the Council’s website which sets 

out all the services and facilities for each settlement – are there any 

comments about this or matters which need to be altered or changed? 

This question was answered 198 times. 

3.13 There were mixed responses, some of the respondents submitted helpful 

evidenced answers about the different types of services and facilities in 

their settlement and these have been transferred into the evidence for the 

Rural Facilities Study Update.  One settlement raised a number of 

concerns about the Rural Facilities Study Update and they have been met 

and the issues they raised have now been resolved.   

3.14 Many responses were influenced by the fact that many respondents did 

not understand what the Settlement Pattern was and believed that the 

higher up the Pattern their settlement appeared, the more growth they 

were going to automatically receive from the council. This was despite the 

consultation document stating clearly that “It is important to note that 

where a settlement is in the pattern does not necessarily dictate where 

growth is going to go in the future.” This had the effect of respondents 

making statements about their settlements based not on evidence, but on 

the fact that they did not want growth; which is not a material planning 

consideration. 

3.15 Question 14 - Do you agree with the approach set out above for major 

infrastructure projects? 

Yes 
34% 

No 
42% 

Don`t 
know 
24% 

Page 40



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 11 

Many of the responses to this question commented about their concern 

about local infrastructure and lack of provision.   

3.16 Question 17 - Do you think it is appropriate to include in the LDP Review 

a policy dealing with major infrastructure projects such as the Bradwell B 

Nuclear Power Station, to be activated if this type of project comes 

forward?  

3.17 There was more support for the proposal of a major infrastructure policy 

in question 17 than question 14, this may have been because the 

explanation accompanying it was more detailed and therefore respondents 

understood the implications better.  Some of the respondents were 

however referring to local and strategic infrastructure which would not be 

covered by this proposed policy and would instead be included in the 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Infrastructure Policy.  There was quite a 

lot of negative comments about the Bradwell B National Strategic 

Infrastructure Project; this was to be expected and cannot be commented 

on further as the Council is not the decision-maker. 

4.0 QUESTIONS 15 AND 16 SUMMARY 

4.1 Question 15 - Which growth option do you consider to be the most 

appropriate for the District of Maldon? 

This question was answered 327 times. 

4.2 Question 16 - Do you believe that there is another suitable growth 

option for the District, perhaps a combination of any growth options? 

Yes 
45% 

No 
55% 

Yes 
81% 

No 
18% 

Don’t 
know 

1% 

Page 41



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 12 

4.3 There were broad range of comments on the options set out in the 

consultation paper.  These were as follows. 

Option 1 - Respondents felt broadly speaking that this option would 

protect green spaces more.   

 The majority of the services and facilities are already in the main

towns.

 The towns have publicly accessible transport facilities and more

employment opportunities.

 Urban extensions and garden suburbs next to towns minimises

impact elsewhere and helps deliver infrastructure.

 This helps to protect the more rural settlements.

 There would be a need to allocate medium and small sites as well in

the future to ensure choice in the market.

 The option failed last time. The towns do not have the

infrastructure to take more growth, they have taken their share of

growth in the past.  It would be better to allocate into the north of

the District to link up with the A12.

 Move the growth into neighbouring authority areas.

 Need to ensure there is not urban sprawl and towns and villages

don’t merge together.

 This option may place additional strain on services and facilities, it

would not allow investment on infrastructure in other parts of the

District.

 It would maximise sustainability in the towns.

 The existing infrastructure in the towns must be able to cope with

the increase in growth.  Easier to expand what is already there.

 It’s the least unattractive option.

 It will spoil the charm of Maldon.  Will result in too much

development in the same places as before

 Large villages can also take growth.

Option 2 - The broad comments on this option were that it protects the 

character and landscape of the district.   

 It will address the damage to Burnham.

 It is the best form of sustainable development.

Yes 
59% 

No 
41% 

Page 42



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 13 

 Any building in the villages should focus on small sites for local builders.

 The inclusion of more settlements could help deliverability.

 Existing infrastructure could be expanded.

 The other large villages could take more growth.

 The option could encourage growth in a district with an aging population

and diminishing working age population.

 The option should include the medium villages as well.

 The road connections and amenities would be unable to cope.

 It will result in too much development in the same places.  The option is

similar to option 3.

Option 3 - The broad comments were that many of the settlements do not

have enough suitable sites.

 Large villages are sustainable.

 This option is similar to option 2.

 It would focus growth in the most sustainable settlements which already

have services and facilities.

 Without new housing, issues of affordability could get worse.

 It would reinforce the existing settlement pattern.

 We should look to opportunities along the railway line.

 This option will assist smaller builders, allows growth to be spread more

evenly.

 Levels of growth should be spread proportionately in line with populations.

 This option will achieve economies of scale.

 This could lead to an under-delivery of housing.

 Distribution by population size of settlement could lead to an under-

delivery.

Option 4 - Comments concerning this option were:

 that it will give the opportunity for all settlements to improve

 there is a need to consider different transport options

 will enable settlements to grow more slowly

 there will be an impact on infrastructure

 There, will be an inability to pay for infrastructure.

 The option will put pressure on services, impact on the rural villages.

 It will share the growth.

Option 5 - Comments made concerning this option were:

 that this is a chance to integrate services and facilities in one place, could

be close to the A12 and trainlines.

 The option offers an opportunity for infrastructure and will reduce

pressure on communities.

 It should target a new settlement.

 It needs to include smaller sites for local builders.

 The option will have too long a lead in time and would need an interim

strategy to ensure delivery of housing supply.

 A new garden village should be considered in the south near to a railway

station.

Page 43



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 14 

 Climate change and infrastructure needs to be considered.

 The option would be very damaging and would require substantial

amounts of infrastructure.

 It would work well with options 6 and 7.

 It would protect the countryside.

 The option would create similar problems to the existing strategy.

 The road networks and other infrastructure would need substantial

improvement.

Option 6 - Comments made concerning this option were:

 This option would benefit from links to the A12 corridor, Danbury, and

Hatfield Peverel.

 There is still the need with this option to ensure the continuing support for

the towns Maldon, Heybridge, and Burnham.

 The option would create similar problems to those that already exist.

 Economies of scale funding would go outside the district.

 Development would be closer to Colchester and Chelmsford.

 Good access to the A12

 No windfall development.

 This option would be discharging responsibility for infrastructure to

neighbouring authorities, ignoring sustainable communities such as

Maldon and Burnham.

 Loss of rural character of small villages.

 Would need good cycle routes to the towns.

 Impacts could be mitigated against by pepper-potting.

 Put development where infrastructure already is.

 Have had an over-reliance on Maldon/Heybridge and Burnham.

 Focus growth in areas which are less dense.

 Danbury is already over-burdened.

 Closer to strategic transport links.

 Tiptree already has services and facilities.

 This option would not resolve the affordable housing problem in the south

of the District.

Option 7 - There was opposition to this option, but this was mainly

skewed by the fact that there was a large site in one of the settlements in

the HELAA, which was evident from the detailed comments given about

that settlement.  At the present time the Council cannot comment on

whether individual settlements can or cannot accommodate future growth,

or on sites which have not had any technical evidence work prepared or

concluded for them for the LDP Review.   The Council needs to make a

choice on where that growth is going to go in a broader strategic sense,

and this was one of the reasons for the Issues and Options Consultation.

Other comments were that:

 the north has already taken sufficient growth around Maldon/Heybridge,

Page 44



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 15 

 The railway has both insufficient capacity and on the other hand the

railway is a sustainable form of transport with capacity,

 Impacts on landscape,

 Focus growth around the railway stations for a greener solution.

 There is sufficient growth in the north more development needs to go in

the south.

 Villages with a railway should be ranked higher.

 The option does not spread development around locations.

 Could provide a catalyst to offer new services to locations and a modal

shift in transport.

5.0 QUESTIONS 18 TO 22 SUMMARY 

5.1 Question 18 - Would you consider the delivery of housing appropriate on 

areas of land where there are disused agricultural buildings, or derelict 

land in or adjacent to large, medium, and small villages? 

There was quite a lot of support for this issue, though many of the 

respondents wanted all development to go on brownfield land only.  This 

is not possible, not even as a starting point because the district does not 

have a history of significant industrial land use and derelict industry sites 

so there are limited brownfield land opportunities.  Therefore, it is 

inevitable that greenfield sites will be required to accommodate future 

growth.  

5.2 Question 19 - Housing can be delivered in larger quantities, but using 

less greenfield land, by building at higher densities. Would you consider 

this appropriate if sites with higher densities were designed to ensure they 

achieved a high quality of design? 

Yes 
53% No 

37% 

Don`t 
know 
10% 

Page 45



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 16 

In terms of the support/object/don`t know responses - 123 respondents 

supported the statement set out in the question, with 144 not supporting 

it.  44 respondents did not know. 

5.3 Question 20 - Do you agree with building at higher densities in all 

settlements.  What would you think was appropriate in terms of housing 

and higher densities? 

In terms of support/object/don`t know responses – 37 respondents 

supported the statement set out in the question, with 221 not supporting 

it.  39 respondents did not know.  

5.4 Question 21 - Would you support minimum density standards to uplift 

the delivery of housing and ensure land in Maldon District was used as 

efficiently as possible, or do you think design, or other factors should 

dictate density on housing sites? 

Yes 
40% 

No 
46% 

Don`t 
know 
14% 

Yes 
13% 

No 
74% 

Don’t 
know 
13% 

Yes 
29% 

No 
51% 

Don’t 
know 
20% 

Page 46



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 17 

In terms of support/object/don`t know responses – 80 respondents 

supported the statement set out in the question, with 144 not supporting 

it.  56 respondents did not know.  

5.5 Question 22 - Would you consider higher density housing appropriate in 

large, medium, and small villages, if the design was to a higher standard 

and the character of the settlement was still respected? 

In terms of support/object/don`t know responses – 79 respondents 

supported the statement set out in the question, with 184 not supporting 

it.  33 respondents did not know.  

5.6 With regard to questions 19, 20, 21 and 22, the respondents focused on 

concerns around higher density developments, especially the unsuitability 

of higher density in rural locations, the impact on character and the linked 

issue of height of development.  This could however mean that in rural 

locations more land will need to be used to accommodate housing at lower 

densities if that is what is desired. Some respondents felt that higher 

density could still be focused on the District’s towns and development 

should be on brownfield land. 

6.0 QUESTIONS 23 AND 24 SUMMARY 

6.1 Question 23 - Is it appropriate to develop land for housing that has been 

previously used for commercial uses such as employment and retail which 

is otherwise vacant, underused and derelict? 

Yes 
27% 

No 
62% 

Don`t 
know 
11% 

Page 47



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 18 

6.2 This issue was generally supported. However the main concern from 

respondents was that employment land would be lost as a result to 

housing without having safeguards put in place.  This is a valid concern, 

the present LDP does not set out clearly enough what is expected of 

developers when they put forward applications for the change of use of 

employment or commercial land. This also will make it difficult for decision 

makers to ascertain whether the land should be given permission for a 

change of use to something other than employment and retail land.   

6.3 Question 24 - It is difficult for Maldon District to have a policy that states 

that brownfield land should be developed first for housing because of the 

lack of brownfield land sites in the District. This could also inadvertently 

lead to the redevelopment of active employment land to residential the 

consequences of this could lead to job losses and a decline in employment 

sites.  

Therefore, instead of 'brownfield land first', should the Council instead 

place a greater emphasis on encouraging the development of brownfield 

land for housing? This may mean less affordable housing and other 

benefits comes forward, but it could redevelop sites which are an eyesore 

and blight on settlements and residents. 

6.4 There was quite a lot of support for this issue, though many of the 

respondents also wanted all development to go on brownfield land and/or 

were concerned that there would be a loss of employment land to housing 

which could impact on the economy. Putting all housing development on 

brownfield land is not possible in Maldon District, not even as a starting 

point because the district does not have a history of significant industrial 

land use, with large derelict sites so there is limited brownfield land 

Yes 
79% 

No 
11% 

Don’t 
know 
10% 

Yes 
76% 

No 
24% 

Don`t 
know 

0% 

Page 48



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 19 

opportunities or opportunities to build within existing settlement 

boundaries.  Therefore, it is inevitable that greenfield sites will be required 

to accommodate future growth. However, the Council can look to ensure 

that through stronger LDP polices and when carrying out work on site 

allocations that brownfield land is prioritised in the settlements chosen for 

growth.  

7.0 QUESTIONS 25 AND 26 SUMMARY 

7.1 Question 25 - Should the medium and small settlements retain some 

form of a settlement boundary, albeit more flexibly drawn? 

7.2 There was significant support for this with respondents believing that 

taking away settlement boundaries would lead to urban sprawl.  The 

support from some respondents was caveated with the need to be more 

flexible in the approach the Council is going to take.  Other respondents 

wanted the matter to be put into the hands of the parish councils via a 

Neighbourhood Plan, though a Neighbourhood Plan still needs to be in 

conformity with the Council’s LDP Review and national planning policy.   

7.3 Question 26 - Should the Council develop a windfall policy for all or 

specific settlements, potentially capping the number of units for each site 

coming forward and ensuring the protection for key views, green 

infrastructure gaps and the historic environment in each village? 

7.4 There was quite a high level of support for this proposal. Respondents 

were seeking a more flexible approach in terms of decision making, the 

support was however more for the larger settlements rather than the 

smaller ones.  Protection for key features was also supported as was 

Yes 
88% 

No 
11% 

Don’t 
know 

1% 

Yes 
74% 

No 
17% 

Don’t 
know 

9% 

Page 49



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 20 

ensuring that sites were allocated instead of allowing them to come 

forward as windfall, which is a legitimate concern, and the Council could 

remedy this by seeking to allocate its full housing requirement.  

8.0 QUESTIONS 27 TO 30 SUMMARY 

8.1 Question 27 - In the event of an increase of need, should the Council 

look to establish both private and public sites for Gypsies and Travellers in 

the future, recognising that not all needs can be catered by one tenure of 

provision? 

8.2 The creation of new public and private sites in the Maldon District is 

broadly supported, however concerns have been raised about the size of 

new sites, ensuring that their locations are suitable and accessible and 

can be supported by existing facilities. These are valid concerns, and the 

Council can address these issues through site selection and criteria in 

planning policy to support decision-making. Some views have been 

expressed preferring either private, or public provision of new sites, but 

not both. There have also been some objections to any further provision 

being catered for in the Maldon District.   

8.3 Question 28 - In the event of an increase of need, should the Council 

seek to intensify or expand existing Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 

Showpeople sites as much as possible, where it is suitable to do so? 

Yes 
29% 

No 
48% 

Don’t 
know 
23% 

Yes 
38% 

No 
61% 

Don’t 
know 

1% 

Page 50



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 21 

8.4 Whilst there is some support for the expansion or intensification of 

existing sites, most of this is conditional support which seeks assurances 

on applying the same rules to the settled community; reviewing whether 

sites are suitable to be intensified or expanded; only intensifying or 

expanding small sites, or only allowing it where it does not cause harm to 

the nearest settlement or surroundings. A few comments support one or 

the other, but not both. There are objections to either taking place in the 

District, particularly around Great Braxted due to existing issues with 

some sites in that area.  

8.5 Question 29 - In the event of an increase of need, should the Council 

consider how it could use its Settlement Pattern, Rural Exception Sites 

and/or Windfall Policy (if implemented) to support the increased provision 

of new sites in sustainable locations that can serve the community's needs 

better? 

8.6 There are varied answers to this question, which do not show conclusive 

support to any of the options for how Settlement Patterns, Rural 

Exception Sites or Windfall Policies could be used to increase provision. 

Most responses reaffirm answers that only existing sites should be 

expanded - regardless of their location in the Settlement Pattern. There 

has been some direct objection to using this approach to find more sites, 

although just as many people needed more information/ were unsure as 

to how it should be tackled. Concern has been expressed as to how the 

Council is reviewing needs as there are some assumptions that needs will 

not have increased. A Town Council has also expressed the importance of 

Transit Sites being provided. Transit Sites are a Duty to Co-operate 

matter across the whole of Greater Essex and Maldon District Council 

cannot resolve this particular matter on its own.  

8.7 Question 30 - Is the anything else the Council should be considering for 

homes for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople? 

This question was answered 82 times. 

8.8 There are varied answers to this question, not surprising as it was 

designed to be a 'catch-all' question. Most comments have been made 

advising the Council to be mindful that new sites need to offer a good 

quality of life to Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople residents, be 

Yes 
21% 

No 
51% 

Don’t 
know 
28% 

Page 51



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 22 

close to education/health care services, be connected to utilities and offer 

ease of access for larger vehicles.  

In a similar fashion there has been a suggestion that the sustainability of 

new sites is considered, together with how they can integrate renewable 

energy solutions. These are all good suggestions of criteria that could be 

included in the updated LDP Review policy for Gypsy and Traveller Sites.  

In addition, there has been a call from some people that the Council asks 

the Gypsy, Traveller, and Travelling Community what it needs and seeks 

to engage with them proactively as part of the LDP Review. The Review 

has already been commissioned in the form of an update to the Maldon 

District Gypsy, Traveller, and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 

Assessment which has interviewed households around the District and 

determined what their family needs are.  

There have been some suggestions as to where new sites should not be 

located, as well as where they should be located in the future. Comments 

have also been provided on the Council's role in Planning Enforcement and 

fairness in policy.  

9.0 QUESTIONS 31 TO 33 SUMMARY 

9.1 Question 31 - Should the Council seek a proportion of self-build/custom 

build plots on larger housing sites? 

9.2 Question 32 - In addition to the above, should the Plan also allocate 

specific sites in the LDP Review exclusively for self-build/custom build, 

either put forward by people who want to self-build or caveated by policy 

that they can only be brought forward by self-builders? 

Yes 
57% No 

23% 

Don’t 
know 
20% 

Page 52



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 23 

9.3 Question 33 - Should the Council in the development of a self-

build/custom build policy consider ensuring that smaller low-cost housing 

units are encouraged to come forward? 

9.4 In terms of questions 31, 32 and 33, there was support for seeking a 

proportion of self-build, custom build developments on larger housing 

sites.  In terms of allocating specific sites the support was not as strong 

with concerns around deliverability and these respondents were looking 

for a more flexible approach.  In regard to smaller low-cost self-build 

housing units there was quite a lot of support linked to the higher cost of 

housing in the District.   

Many of the respondents however seemed to believe that self-build and 

custom build development would not be built to a high standard and that 

they did not have to comply with the design policy.  This is not the case, 

as with all other development in the District they would have to conform 

to the Council’s reviewed design policy as well as Building Regulations. 

10.0 QUESTIONS 34 TO 38 SUMMARY 

10.1 Question 34 - Designing beautiful spaces and buildings, how important 

do you think it is that we should actively plan to create beautiful spaces 

and buildings? 

This question was answered 235 times. 

10.2 There is considerable support for the active planning of beautiful spaces 

and buildings, especially as this is now a requirement of the NPPF and 

Yes 
66% 

No 
34% 

Yes 
60% 

No 
19% 

Don’t 
know 
21% 

Page 53



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 24 

National Design Guidance.  Respondents have pointed out that 'beauty' is 

however subjective, and question how this will be judged.  Good design is 

not just about looking good; places and buildings also need to function 

well.  

10.3 Comments highlighted that well designed places and spaces can reduce 

public health and policing costs by benefiting people's health and 

wellbeing, encouraging walking and cycling, enabling social interactions, 

creating safer places, boosting the local economy and tourism, and 

reducing pollution. Several comments highlighted that the way we use 

and value our local open spaces has changed during the Covid-19 

pandemic, and that having accessible open space in, and around 

residential development is crucial to people's well-being.  Some felt that 

design criteria/ design codes should not be overly prescriptive, or stifle 

development, but rather, should encourage creativity and innovation. 

Although there was support for more specific design guidance for medium 

and large developments. 

Frequently mentioned design considerations in the comments: 

 Essential to retain local character, use vernacular architecture

 New development should complement the character and nature of

the local area

 Needs to be well designed - liveable places, building proportions,

quality of materials, windows, spaces around buildings, not

crammed in, mix of architectural styles and housing types

 Places and buildings need to function well

 Protect existing and create new green / open spaces, use native

planting, and be wildlife friendly

 Affordable

 Sustainable

 Mitigate climate change - efficient buildings, green energy - EV

charging

 Support innovative design

 Connected footpaths, cycle ways and bridleways from residential

areas to employment, community facilities and outdoor spaces.

10.4 Question 35.   What do you think about the design policy in the LDP 

2017 (Policy D1) and the Maldon District Design Guide Supplementary 

Planning Document 2018?  Do they need amending? 

This question was answered 121 times. 

10.5 Many of the consultees have recognised that the design policy and MDDG 

need to be revised to ensure that they are up to date with the current 

NPPF and National Design Guide. Similar numbers of comments were 

made that the current policy was either too flexible, or too prescriptive.  

There was a general view that design wasn't taken seriously enough in the 

Council’s planning decisions, and that the guidance already in place was 

not being used consistently.  A range of interesting amendments were 

suggested, including the following topics: 

Page 54



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 25 

 Using simpler language

 Enabling more active design

 Adding information on engaging with the emergency services

 More innovative design

 Design response to climate change/net zero/energy efficiency

 Specialist housing / adaptable housing/ lifetime homes

 Access and connectivity (walkers/cyclists/horse riders)

 Biodiversity/nature conservation

 Quality of materials / modern materials and modern methods of

construction /recycled materials

10.6 Question 36 - Should the Council seek to endorse the Essex Design 

Guide with a Maldon District supplementary section?  Would this be a 

more flexible approach to design? 

10.7 Similar numbers of respondents agreed, disagreed, or didn’t express a 

preference on the Council endorsing the Essex Design Guide; which does 

not only cover residential development, but also commercial, green 

spaces and highways. In this respect, there was no clear policy steer from 

the consultees. There was, however, consensus that design guidance 

needs to be flexible and result in development that fits in with the local 

area. 

10.8 Question 37 - Should the Council in its design policy encourage support 

for modern innovative design and design to counter the effects of climate 

change? 

Yes 
42% 

No 
18% 

Don’t 
know 
40% 

Yes 
76% 

No 
10% 

Don’t 
know 
14% 

Page 55



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 26 

10.10 The encouragement for modern/contemporary design was generally 

supported, although some commentors did not like the look of 

modern/contemporary design and others raised concerns that such 

designs may not be suitable in all areas, in particular historic areas and 

villages. There was widespread support for design that countered the 

effects of climate change, although concern was raised about the 

additional build costs this could result in, and whether this would fit in 

with existing local character. The increasing standards in the Building 

Regulations will result in costs coming down over time, as green building 

technologies and techniques become more mainstream.  It does need to 

be recognised that responding to climate change may lead to changes 

being made to building designs and development layouts which diverge 

from the existing local character, but that this will not automatically mean 

a loss of aesthetics if done well. From the responses, it is clear that the 

LDP needs to be flexible enough to accommodate rapid changes in 

building technologies and to not overly restrict design styles.   

Suggestions for policy included encouraging Modern Methods of 

Construction; the reuse of recycled building materials; and the 

requirement for energy efficient measures such as solar panels. Some 

people suggested that the Building Regulations, National Design Guidance 

and Essex Design Guidance be used, whilst others supported having local 

design guidance.  

10.11 Question 38 - Please provide comments below on design matters you 

consider to be particularly important. We would be especially interested in 

your views on whether we should include general design guidance on 

relevant site allocations. 

This question was answered 146 times. 

10.12 Significant support has been expressed for the provision of bespoke, site-

specific design guidance or design codes for site allocations.  The view is 

that these do not need to replicate District level design guidance but 

should focus on site specific issues.  No consultee disagreed with the idea 

of having design guidance for site allocations. The general view is that 

new development should complement existing local character and be 

designed with the local context in mind.  Many consultees prefer 

traditional, vernacular architecture, although others are fully supportive of 

innovative design. A key theme running throughout the responses has 

been the need for environmentally conscious, climate resilient, low 

carbon, and energy efficient development.  Strong support was expressed 

for incorporating alternative energy technologies, such as heat pumps and 

solar panels. 

11.0 QUESTIONS 39 TO 42 SUMMARY 

11.1 Question 39 - Should the LDP Review make climate change one of its 

key priorities? 

Page 56



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 27 

11.2 Question 40 - What do you consider to be important in terms of 

development and climate change?  Are on-site renewables such as 

photovoltaics, ground source heat pumps, etc as important/more 

important as off-site renewable energy projects such as on-land wind 

farms, solar farms, district heating networks, etc? 

This question was answered 214 times. 

11.3 In regard to questions 39 and 40, most comments are generally 

supportive of the use of renewable energy and measures to mitigate 

climate change. Supportive of both on-site and off-site renewables, but a 

higher level of support/prioritisation for on-site. Some concern over off-

site about the other potential impacts it can have (visual impact, ecology 

etc). There was an emphasis on locating developments in suitably 

sustainable areas. Concerns over flood risk; avoid building in flood zones 

and provide flood mitigation. 

11.4 Question 41 - Should we plan for net-zero carbon from plan adoption in 

2023? This would require all new development to be net-zero carbon upon 

adoption of the plan. If yes, would the Council need to bring forward any 

additional guidance to support this? 

11.5 Question 42 - Should we plan for net-zero carbon from a specific future 

date? This would require all new development to achieve net zero carbon 

from a future date in the plan process, set out in policy. It could allow 

time for the development industry to adjust to the higher standards and 

may mean we can secure more affordable housing and community 

benefits from development, earlier on in the plan process. 

This question was answered 142 times. 

Yes 
79% 

No 
13% 

Don’t 
know 

8% 

Yes 
49% 

No 
31% 

Don’t 
know 
20% 

Page 57



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 28 

11.6 With regard to questions 41 and 42, overall, the comments on this 

question were positive but concern was raised that whilst it was a positive 

aspiration, the Council would be unable to meet it or that it would be too 

costly to make development viable.  Given that the time of the adoption of 

the plan has now slipped the national requirements for development to 

meet climate change goals may also move and it will be easier to meet 

net zero carbon targets.  The LDP Review will be having a whole plan 

viability assessment, and this will analyse whether the draft policies would 

affect development costs in terms of viability.  This should ally concerns 

about the cost of implementing this policy. 

12.0 QUESTIONS 43 TO 51 SUMMARY 

12.1 Question 43 - Should the LDP policies strongly support the economy in 

terms of a transition to a low carbon economy, ensuring development and 

growth opportunities are supported through this process? 

12.2 The responses overall are supportive of LDP Review policies that facilitate 

the transition to a low carbon economy, but there are notable queries and 

concerns about how this would be achieved and what this would mean for 

development in the district. There is clear recognition that the transition 

would require a cross-sector partnership approach, with local businesses 

and communities being fully engaged in decision-making. Local businesses 

should be supported in their resilience to recover from the COVID-19 

pandemic and in their resilience to respond to changes in the employment 

sectors and labour markets.  

12.3 Some respondents commented that the infrastructure deficit in the district 

already resulted in a lack of connectivity, and that this has an adverse 

impact on businesses looking to relocate or grow. Not all respondents 

understood that climate action requires the decarbonisation of all sectors 

of the economy to meet legally binding Net Zero targets and is therefore, 

a national and local priority for policymaking and decision-taking. This lack 

of awareness and understanding about the scope and scale of climate 

action or that climate action is a key part of sustainable development was 

further evident in suggestions that there should be exceptions made for 

climate action in rural areas and by default, a more gradual transition to a 

low carbon economy as part of sustainable development.  

Yes 
72% 

No 
8% 

Don`t 
know 
20% 

Page 58



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 29 

12.4 Question 45 - Should the Council contain a policy preventing the 

redevelopment of employment premises to residential units? If so, should 

the scope of such a policy be limited in any way? Please explain the 

rationale for your answer. 

12.5 The responses overall recognise the importance of balancing the 

competing interests of land for employment and housing through flexible 

planning policies that plan positively for redevelopment, but there are 

notable concerns about employment land being developed too easily for 

housing because of the potential greater profit to be made. Those 

respondents who expressed concern typically valued a reactive ‘case by 

case’ approach to decision making instead of a specific policy. It is clear 

that any policy would need to be clearly justified to alleviate any concerns 

and contain a criteria-based approach that would demonstrate sufficient 

rigour. There is a clear need to increase the understanding and value to 

the district of a ‘plan-led’ system and the importance of planning 

positively for sustainable development.   

12.6 A number of respondents highlighted the changes to people’s work-life 

balance as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic that could potentially lead 

to permanent changes for land-use requirements, particularly given the 

rise in home working and decrease in commuting. Some respondents 

commented that the infrastructure deficit in the district needed addressing 

prior to the development of more housing, but that this should not be to 

the detriment of the district as a place to live and work.  

12.7 Question 46 - How important is the rural economy? 

Yes 
31% 

No 
45% 

Don’t 
know 
24% 

Page 59



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 30 

12.8 Overall, there was strong support for the proposal that the rural economy 

should be supported and from the responses it comes across as an 

important component of life within the District. 

12.9 Question 47 - Should the Council support the development of live/work 

housing units? 

12.10 There is support noted for live/work housing units in response to changing 

work patterns and the rise in homeworking. The reduction in work-related 

car journeys was welcomed and viewed as a way to reduce overall carbon 

emissions from the district, but respondents highlighted the need to 

ensure that sufficient infrastructure is in place to optimise this transition. 

Improvements to transport and digital connectivity were included in more 

general comments about the general design of new housing and 

employment hubs that respond to the market but that also reflect climate 

action.  Respondents clearly recognise the opportunities that live/work 

housing units provide, although some were reticent about the size and 

scale of any work-related uses permitted. 

12.11 Question 48 - Should the nature, size and type of policy support noted 

for Maldon and Burnham-on-Crouch`s High Streets’ change? How would 

you like the high street to change? 

Very 
Important 

63% 

Important 
27% 

Don`t 
know 

9% 

Not 
Important 

1% 

Yes 
61% 

No 
15% 

Don’t 
know 
24% 

Page 60



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 31 

12.12 Respondents were generally supportive of local businesses and the 

number of independent shops on the high street in Maldon and Burnham 

and a wish for it to remain this way, although some consider the high 

street as a concept to have already declined. Comments such as providing 

more parking, reducing and/or eliminating parking fees, pedestrianisation, 

reducing business rates, stopping the impact of online shopping are not 

matters the LDP can address, but they are wider issues the council should 

be aware of. Some comments were saying that there are too many coffee 

shops/betting shops/charity shops, and that there was a need for a wider 

range of different uses. A few comments supporting 

social/leisure/community uses on the high street in order to combat 

isolation and loneliness. One comment noted there should be more 

support for village high streets and not just Maldon and Burnham High 

Streets, to reduce the need to travel. 

12.13 Question 49 - Do you believe this policy (Policy E5 in LDP 2017) requires 

modification? If so, how would you like to see it changed? 

12.14 Question 50 - Do you believe this policy (Policy E5 in LDP 2017) 

encourages tourism or is it too restrictive? 

This question was answered 102 times. 

12.15 In regard to questions 48 and 49, more than half of comments consider 

the policy to be too restrictive and that tourism should be encouraged; 

some comments stating tourism should be encouraged but not to the 

detriment of considerations such as the character of an area, ecology etc 

and ensure there is enough parking. Some comments consider the policy 

to be appropriate as it is currently, however there is limited explanation as 

Yes 
46% 

No 
17% 

Don’t 
know 
37% 

Yes 
26% 

No 
24% 

Don`t 
know 
50% 

Page 61



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 32 

to why this is. A few comments from people who do not want to 

encourage tourism or are unsure. 

12.16 Question 51 - How could planning policy encourage more visitors to the 

District other than day visitors? 

This question was answered 120 times 

12.17 Majority of respondents were supportive of developments for tourists, 

particularly tourist accommodation including camping and caravan sites, 

however it was considered the current policy was not overly supportive of 

tourism. It was also noted more tourist attractions were needed that took 

advantage of the district’s landscapes. Comments were also submitted 

regarding better promotion of the district and its offerings which are 

matters outside the LDP Review, but which the council should be aware of. 

13.0 QUESTIONS 52 TO 60 SUMMARY 

13.1 Question 52 - Should the Council consider having protected landscape 

views in the District, even though this even though this may place 

development pressure elsewhere? 

13.2 The majority of respondents were in favour of protecting landscape views 

however concern was raised regarding how this would be achieved and 

whether this would be found sound at examination as national guidance 

has moved away from local designations.   

13.3 Question 53 - In terms of access and sustainable transport in the 

District, what is most important to you?  

This question was answered 201 times. 

13.4 Question 54 - Should the Council focus future growth on those areas 

with higher levels of commuter access either by bus or train? 

Yes 
83% 

No 
8% 

Don’t 
know 

9% 

Page 62



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 33 

13.5 In regard to questions 53 and 54, many of the respondents are concerned 

about the transport networks across the District.  Overall, respondents felt 

that development should be located where there is access to bus or train 

networks.  They are seeking a better more sustainable transport system in 

the District but there is also a recognition that the District is more rural in 

nature and that the car is still required.  Improvements to cycle lanes and 

accessibility for walking are seen as important, as are improved bus 

services. 

13.6 Question 55 - Should all new development be linked to its settlement by 

a footpath wide enough to accommodate a wheelchair or double 

buggy/pram? 

13.7 Question 56 - Should development have to demonstrate that it can 

provide safe footpath/cycle links/ connections, which incorporate green 

infrastructure and support active travel choices?  

Yes 
61% 

No 
28% 

Don’t 
know 
11% 

Yes 
83% 

No 
8% 

Don’t 
know 

9% 

Yes 
82% 

No 
8% 

Don’t 
know 
10% 

Page 63



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 34 

13.8 In regard to questions 55 and 56, the majority of the respondents were 

supportive of the proposals, but there was also support to include cycle 

lanes and bridle ways.   

13.9 Question 57 - Should the council continue to explore and support 

complementary projects delivered outside the planning system that can 

support travel choice and a shift away from the use of the car in the 

District? 

13.10 Whilst many respondents could see the benefit of exploring 

complementary projects and initiatives delivered outside the planning system to 

move away from car use, there was a sense of realism in many answers. These 

recognised that large parts of the District were rural and remote in nature, 

settlements more scattered and that there were therefore practical limitations in 

what can be achieved with cars felt to be a necessity for many people. However, 

there was support for improvements in towns. The Dengie Dart was mentioned 

specifically as being good for local communities. There were suggestions of the 

council supporting the roll out of other projects which were technology-based 

(such as increasing electric vehicle charging points, lift-sharing, and self-driving 

vehicles), that were mode-based (such as getting more commuter/shopper bus 

services in the District, more bridleways/cycle lanes, re-instating railway links to 

Maldon, demand-responsive transport, etc) and that were place-based (such as 

transport link improvements between Maldon and Crouch Valley Railway, 

improvements between Tollesbury & Tiptree, traffic speed measures.)   

13.11 Question 58 - Should the Council take into account the advantages of 

locations which stand to offer the better chance of securing new 

infrastructure due to critical massing of development? 

Yes 
74% 

No 
12% 

Don’t 
know 
14% 

Page 64



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 35 

13.12 Whilst many respondents could see the benefit of critical massing of 

development to stand a better chance of securing new various forms of new or 

expanded infrastructure, there were many caveated answers. These included 

assumptions that existing towns or certain scales of settlement might already 

offer better economies of scale than other alternatives and critical mass could 

work better in these more established locations.  

There were comments that the District does not have the infrastructure to 

support existing growth and this will just get worst if investment in infrastructure 

does not come before development, which is the way the current S106/CIL 

arrangements work.   

Some assumed the term infrastructure in the question only meant transport 

related projects, rather than infrastructure in more general terms and that the 

council should not write-off locations that already have good transport 

infrastructure or capacity to otherwise take more development.  

It was also pointed out whilst critical massing can often secure new 

infrastructure, this should not mean the council does not consider what local 

advantages smaller scale developments offer as well.   

Of those that disagreed or were doubtful of this approach, there was concern 

that development would promise but still not deliver like is believed to have 

occurred previously; that it should instead be prioritised where there was 

capacity in infrastructure/services and then focused on sustainable settlements 

in larger villages where some other services already exist which would enable 

smaller developers to bring benefits more in proportion to settlements; or that 

this approach would be impact on the uniqueness of Maldon District if focussing 

growth in one location. There were also concerns this approach would just lead 

to a few bigger developments which are not favourable. 

13.13 Question 59 - Affordable housing is often the biggest influence on 

viability, so should the Council continue to prioritise this policy 

requirement over other infrastructure contributions or design quality 

across the District? 

Yes 
62% 

No 
17% 

Don’t 
know 
21% 

Page 65



APPENDIX 1 

Appendix 1 – page 36 

13.14 The respondents were split in their comments with slightly more 

respondents not in favour, but there were caveats in that it should not be 

at the expense of infrastructure and quality design.  There were also some 

respondents who were concerned about the affordability of housing in the 

District.  The NPPF does set out that the Council should deliver all of its 

housing need and that does include affordable housing.  The Local 

Housing Needs Assessment sets out what that need is and the Council in 

its review of the LDP will have to ascertain whether this is possible along 

with the infrastructure, design, and climate change requirements of 

development.  In order to make sure policy constraints do not make 

development unviable the LDP will have a whole plan viability assessment. 

13.15 Question 60 - Should we consider spare capacity within our existing 

infrastructure when we determine where new development should go? 

13.16 The majority of respondents were supportive of the statement that spare 

capacity within existing infrastructure should determine where new 

development should go.  Though there were concerns that this should not 

be the only criteria for the selection of growth areas.  This is a legitimate 

concern because there are a number of factors which will help the Council 

select firstly its growth areas and then the sites which should be allocated. 

Some of the respondents believed that there was no spare capacity.   

Yes 
31% 

No 
42% 

Don’t 
know 
27% 

Yes 
66% 

No 
14% 

Don’t 
know 
20% 

Page 66



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
16 MARCH 2023 
 
CLIMATE ACTION PLAN FOR 2023 / 24 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the Council’s annual Climate 1.1

Action Plan for 2023 / 24.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Members’ note the Council’s annual Climate Change Action Plan for 2023 / 24 
attached at APPENDIX 1 and approve that it will be monitored quarterly via quarterly 
performance reports to the Performance, Governance and Audit Committee. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 On 4 February 2021, the Council declared a Climate Emergency and stated it was 3.1

the first step towards a cleaner and more sustainable Council, benefitting both 
residents and future generations.  
 

 Following the declaration, the Council produced a Climate Action Strategy (CAS), 3.2
which contains five pledges and over 60 actions. The CAS was adopted by the 
Council on 23 December 2021. 
 

 The agreed Climate Action Pledges are:  3.3

 Kick the Car Habit; 

 Create Less Waste; 

 Show Nature We Care; 

 Be an Authority that Leads by Example; 

 Have a Strong Policy Commitment to Climate Action. 
 

 As part of the CAS, the Council committed to developing a yearly Climate Action Plan 3.4
(CAP). This would align to and complement existing national, regional and local 
policies and legislation, whilst promoting ‘Cleaner, Greener, Healthier’ pilots and 
initiatives that the District will benefit from.  
 

 The CAP will be delivered within existing resources, although external funding 3.5
opportunities will also be sought. If funding constraints arise these will be reported. 
 

 The CAP 2023 / 24 (APPENDIX 1) has been developed over a period of four months, 3.6
in collaboration with officers across all services and functions to ensure actions to be 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6

https://www.maldon.gov.uk/downloads/download/9457/climate_action_strategy


delivered are SMART (Specific, Measurable, Agreed, Realistic and Time-Bound). 
These actions will be delivered holistically with these services. 
 

 The actions comprise of activities that will either be undertaken by the Council or in 3.7
partnership. At a local level, the Council already works with several statutory bodies 
and local agencies. We will continue to work with them to progress the work of the 
CAS; an updated list of external partners is set out in the CAP 2023 / 24. 
 

 The CAP 2023 / 24 shows the priority actions aligned to each of the CAS Climate 3.8
Action Pledges. All actions have been prioritised according to their impact on carbon 
emissions and their ability to kick-start the necessary change or generate the 
understanding needed to help us meet the aspiration be a carbon neutral District by 
2030.  
 

 The actions and initiatives within the CAP have been categorised into short-, 3.9
medium- and long-term objectives, where: 
 

Short-term Medium-term Long -term 

Actions that will be 
completed in 2023 / 24  

Actions that begin in 2023 
/ 24 but are not due for 
completion until 2025 / 26. 
In this case updates will be 
published in annual action 
plans up to 2025 / 26.  

Actions that begin in 2023 
/ 24 but are ongoing and 
updated in each annual 
action plan  

 
 The CAP 2023 / 24 sets out the community engagement activities that will take place 3.10

during the period 2023 - 24. These will be implemented through an Asset-Based 
Community Development (ABCD) approach, which encourages communities and 
individual households to identify their existing assets and to use what they already 
have more efficiently and effectively to improve their own lives. It is based on three 
principles: ‘everyone has gifts’, ‘relationships build a community’ and ‘start with what 
you have’. 
 

 The co-benefits of Climate Action have been identified against each pledge action 3.11
and include improved health and wellbeing, increased social equity, economic 
opportunities and increased resilience to extreme weather events and rising fuel 
prices.   
 

 It should be noted that the CAP will evolve in response to emerging local, regional, 3.12
and national policy and legislation.  
 

 
 The actions within the 2023 / 24 CAP will be monitored and reported quarterly 3.13

through the Council's Performance, Governance and Audit Committee. 
 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 The CAP demonstrates strategy through to delivery and is a positive step to 4.1

identifying ways to reduce carbon emissions and increase climate resilience across 
the District. 
 

 The CAP informs, helps enable, and updates the Maldon District community about 4.2
the Council’s work on the climate emergency.   
 

Page 68



 Having a CAP will enable the Council to actively deliver against its Pledges, and will 4.3
positively support bids for funding and tools, to ensure better outcomes for the 
District. 

 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 The CAS provides co-benefit to the Strategic Themes of Place, Prosperity and 5.1

Community and will assist the thematic strategies in achieving outcomes 
 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – The Our Home, Our Future community engagement 

approach to the development of the Action Plan enables those that wish to 
engage with the Council, to develop our Climate Actions, to do so effectively 
and help influence the creation of an updated and robust approach for the 
District. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – Any activity undertaken as part of the CAP will be 
designed to enable all persons to engage to ensure there is a significant 
customer benefit from its outputs. This process will meet the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – The CAP will help the Council reduce the risk of carbon 
emission increase and be better prepared for when future climate and 
environment legislation and standards come into force. 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – By having a robust CAP, it increases the 
authority and District’s eligibility for funding opportunities to support climate 
action and resilience. Leveraging external funding will reduce the Council’s 
own financial commitment to delivery. 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – This work is being led by the Climate 
Action Lead Officer and they will collaborate with internal and external 
partners to deliver the programme of work. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – Positive outcomes for the environment based 
on the actions. Supports the Councils aspiration to be a carbon neutral 
District by 2030. 

 
(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities - Through the Our Home, Our 

Future campaign the CAP will provide increased opportunities for 
communities to engage in Climate Action. It will ensure that the community’s 
perception, ideas and skills can be shared and considered in the formulation 
of the annual CAP. By using an ABCD Approach engagement will be 
coordinated ‘with’ and ‘by’ the community, for the community. 

 
 
Background Papers:  
Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Strategy - "Our Home, Our Future"  
 
YouTube video: - kickstarting a climate action culture at mdc 

 
Enquiries to: Claire Williamson, Climate Action Lead Officer, Service Delivery Directorate. 

Page 69

https://www.maldon.gov.uk/info/206002/news/9996/climate_action_strategy_-_our_home_our_future/2
https://youtu.be/-CBP67HMCYS


This page is intentionally left blank



Taking climate action for our future home and generations

16 March 2023 

Maldon District Council’s 

Climate Action Plan 2023 
2024

Supported by  
One Maldon District

APPENDIX 1

P
age 71



Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24  I  32  I  Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24

C
on

te
nt

sContents

 

Introduction  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

Who has contributed to the Action plan?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6

Climate Action Plan 2023/2024  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7

Climate action co-benefits  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8

Engagement with Maldon District communities   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 9

Pledge 1 - Kick the Car Habit  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12

Pledge 2 - Create Less Waste  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 15

Pledge 3 - Show Nature We Care   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 18

Pledge 4 - Be a Council That Leads by Example   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 23

Pledge 5 - Develop a strong policy commitment to Climate Action   .  .  .  .  .  .  . 26

Monitoring and reporting   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 29

Risks to delivery   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 30

List of Figures and tables   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 31

APPENDIX 1

P
age 72



Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24  I  54  I  Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24

Avoid carbon intensive 
activities e .g ., re-think 
strategies and policies

AVOID

REDUCE

REPLACE

OFFSET

Figure 1 The Carbon Management Hierarchy

Introduction
Maldon District Council (the Council) declared a Climate 
Emergency in February 2021 and in January 2022 the 
Council’s Climate Action Strategy (CAS) was adopted . 
The CAS is a positive step to identifying ways to reduce 
carbon emissions and increase climate resilience across the 
Maldon District . This will include developing strong climate 
partnership links, pushing to be the first in line for sustainable 
transport options, finding ways to support sustainable 
agriculture, encouraging development that meets all future 
homes standards, and engaging and empowering our 
communities to make low carbon and informed choices .

When the CAS was adopted, the Council committed to 
developing a yearly Climate Action Plan (CAP), which 
would set the actions and initiatives that would help us on 
our net zero journey . The CAP aims to prioritise actions 
in accordance with the Carbon Management Hierarchy 
(Figure 1), where the most desired actions are those that 
avoid emissions, followed by those that reduce or replace 
emissions . Offsetting should only be used as a last resort 
after all other options have been exhausted .

The actions and initiatives within the CAP have been 
categorised into short-, medium and long-term objectives, 
where:

•  Short-term refers to actions that will be completed  
 in 2023/2024

•  Medium-term refers to actions that will begin in 
 2023/2024 but are not due for completion until 
 2025/2026. In this case updates will be published in 
 yearly action plans up to 2025/2026

•  Long-term are actions that will be begin in 2023/2024 
 but may be ongoing and will be updated in each yearly 
 action plan

This plan sets out the activities that the Council can lead 
on and undertake in 2023/2024 . The CAP will be delivered 
within existing resources, although external funding 
opportunities will also be sought . 

It should be noted that this action plan will evolve in response 
to emerging local, regional, and national policy and legislation .

Identify and adopt more 
carbon efficient processes

Replace high carbon energy 
sources with low carbon 
source

Offset those emissions that 
cannot be eliminated by the 
above

The Carbon Management Hierarchy

APPENDIX 1

P
age 73



Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  76  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030

Who has contributed to the Action plan? Climate Action Plan 2023/2024
The remainder of this document is based on the  
‘areas of focus’ as set out in the CAS as Climate Action 
Pledges. These are detailed on pages 5-8 of the CAS  
and summarised in Figure 2.

The five Climate Action Pledges are championed by eight 
Council employees, and they are known as the ‘Pledge 
Connectors .’ The Pledge Connectors are strategically placed 
across the Council and their role is to provide specialist 
support and guidance on the prioritisation and progress of 
the pledge actions .

The CAP details the priority actions within each pledge for 
2023/2024 . They have been prioritised according to their 
impact on carbon emissions and their ability to kick start the 
necessary change, or generate the understanding, that we 
will need to help us move to a carbon neutral Maldon District 
by 2030 .

This CAP includes specific projects and activities that have 
emerged from the pledges within the CAS since its adoption 
in 2021 .

The CAS cannot be implemented by the Council alone, 
and the actions set out are ones which the Council 
can take, either alone, or in partnership with others. 
At a local level, the Council already works with several 
statutory bodies and local agencies. We will continue  
to work with them to progress the work of the CAS.  
They include:
 
•  Blackwater Partnership

•  City, District and Borough Authority Climate Forum

•  CO2 Reduction Essex (CORE) group

•  ECC Climate Action Commission

•  Essex County Council (ECC) Nature Partnership and 
 Local Nature Recovery Strategy

•  Maldon and District Community Voluntary Service  
 (Maldon CVS)

•  Mid Essex Health Alliance

•  North Essex Economic Board (NEEB)

•  One Maldon District Partnership

•  Southeast Energy Hub

•  Southeast Local Enterprise Partnership

•  The Blackwater Partnership

•  The Essex Communications Group

•  Transport East

•  Visit Essex (tourism)

In addition to the steer from national government strategies, 
and a growing evidence base on the impact that local 
authorities can have on climate change, the action plan has 
been developed in collaboration with Council officers across 
the authority. This approach has helped identified how the 
Council might act to deliver the CAS ‘pledges’ and what the 
actions should be .

Pledge 01 
Kick the car habit

Pledge 02 
Create less waste

Pledge 03 
Show Nature we care

Pledge 04 
Be a Council that leads by example

Pledge 05 
Develop a strong policy commitment to Climate Action

Figure 2 The Climate Action Pledges

APPENDIX 1

P
age 74



 

Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  98  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030

Climate action 
co-benefits
The CAP has the potential to deliver many other 
local benefits, including improved health and 
wellbeing, increased community cohesion, economic 
opportunities and increased resilience to extreme 
weather events and rising fuel prices.

Co-benefits are important because they demonstrate  
a connection between climate action and other issues .  
For example, reducing air pollution from emissions of  
fossil fuels reduces environmental impacts and improves 
health and wellbeing . Here, health and wellbeing is the  
co-benefit. This action plan recognises the co-benefit(s)  
of each action .

Example of co-benefits of tackling climate change are 
presented in figure 3, which also includes the symbols  
used to represent them in the pledge descriptions .

 

Figure 3 Co-benefit symbols and examples

Resilience 
E .g . ability to withstand impacts of climate 
changes, ability to cope with future increases 
in energy prices, increase adaptability to future 
changes such as transition to electric vehicles 
(EVs) .

Health and wellbeing 
E.g. more efficient homes, access to affordable 
warmth, cleaner air, increased levels of 
activity through walking and cycling, reducing 
climate anxiety and improved quality of life for 
residents .

Community cohesion 
E .g . alleviation of fuel poverty, clean air, improved 
access to green spaces and community 
engagement .

Economy 
E.g. better offices, creation of new jobs, enhanced 
green skills and training, Local green goods 
and services, local investment opportunities, 
reduced energy costs, reduced environmental 
impacts and a more inclusive economy .

Engagement with Maldon District  
communities
In addition to the five Climate Action Pledges, the 
Council will continue to explore effective ways of 
engaging with partners and stakeholders and will look 
for ways to encourage and support delivery of the CAS 
through local initiatives. This section of the CAP sets 
out the community engagement actions that will take 
place during the period 2023/2024. As set out in the 
CAS, the Council with adopt an Asset-Based Community 
Development1 approach to working with organisations, 
residents, businesses, and the entire community of 
Maldon District. Many of the actions will need to be 
delivered in partnership with these stakeholders in a 
delivery or an advisory capacity.

 

The Council Climate Action Friends (CAF) group has been 
set up to enable the community to sign up and receive 
climate action updates and share their ideas with other 
CAF Members, as of Feb 2023 there were 35 members . 
The Council will facilitate up to four CAF member meetings 
a year, which will act as a sounding board to help shape 
communications and initiatives to implement the objectives of 
the CAS . An inaugural meeting is planned for April 2023 .

The Council will explore effective ways of engaging with 
partners and stakeholders, and look for ways to encourage 
and support delivery of the CAS through the following local 
activities:

1 The ABCD approach encourages communities and individual households to identify their existing assets and to use what they already have more efficiently and effectively to improve their 
own lives . It is based on three principles: ‘everyone has gifts’, ‘relationships build a community’ and ‘start with what you have’ . https://www .nesta .org .uk/report/asset-based-community-
developmentlocal- authorities/

APPENDIX 1

P
age 75



10  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030 Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  11

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Enhanced 
engagement from 
the community 
for climate action 
projects

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

Table 1 Engagement

Develop 
community 
climate action 
support

The Council launched the CAF group in April 
2022 .

Short-term Completed

The aim is to grow this group thorough targeted 
social media campaigns, annual CAF meetings 
and promotion at other events and activities .

In partnership with Maldon CVS trial quarterly 
meetings of the CAF group . This will allow the 
Council to listen to the CAF and develop the 
correct support in the right places to help them 
take positive climate actions .

Provide expertise to community groups and 
climate partnerships to help them deliver climate 
action projects and environmental initiatives 
across the district .

Long-term

Greater 
participation in 
climate action 
activities and 
training

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

Help residents, 
businesses 
and schools 
understand and 
address the 
impacts of the 
climate crisis

Spreading the message by attending events, 
visiting schools, social media campaigns .

Empowering the community with the knowledge, 
skills, values, and attitudes needed to act as 
ambassadors for change .

Provide information on expert talks, workshops, 
and training courses

Long-term In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Update the 
Council’s 
Climate Action 
webpage

Keep the climate action section of the website 
updated and include the latest information on 
climate action community groups, activities and 
events

Long-term In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Community more 
informed and 
driving greater 
engagement with 
activities

Issue regular climate action email updates to the 
Climate Action Friends, Members, Parish and 
Town Councils .

APPENDIX 1

P
age 76



12  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030 Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  13

     Pledge 01 - Kick the Car Habit
Through our ‘Kick the Car Habit’ pledge we aim to work with partners to reduce traffic and shift to more sustainable modes of transport. 
This will lead to improvements in emissions, air quality, noise, and safety . Table 4 lists the actions that will take place in 2023/2024 to help 
improve sustainable transport across the Maldon District:

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

Table 2 Kick the Car Habit pledge actions

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

MDFTS 
developed and 
adopted

Lobbying with 
ECC to invest 
in active travel 
schemes

Work with ECC to review, influence and finalise 
the Maldon District Future Transport Strategy 
(MDFTS) and promote schemes which will help 
implement the initiatives and projects contained 
within the Strategy .

Short-term

Work with ECC to help shape their review of a 
refreshed Essex Cycling Strategy .

The Council will lobby ECC for funding for 
walking and cycling projects via MDFTS and 
designated funds from A12 widening scheme .

Long-term Strategy 
developed and 
adopted

Influence 
investment in 
active

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

SPD producedUpdate the 
Council’s 
Vehicle Parking 
Strategy 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document

Evidence is being gathered and will be evaluated 
and used to update our own Vehicle Parking 
Strategy Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD .) to support park and stride and park and 
ride initiatives .

Medium-term

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Strategy 
developed and 
adopted

See a roll-out of 
public electric 
charging points, 
particularly 
where on-street 
parking is not 
available

Work with ECC to develop their county-wide 
Electric Vehicle (EV) Strategy Charging Strategy 
to set out guidance for provision of EV charge 
points across the District .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Staff 
Travel Plan 
developed and 
adopted

Implement a 
sustainable 
staff travel plan

To prepare a Staff Travel Plan for adoption in 
2023/2024 and review the onsite facilities for 
car sharing, walking and cycling to and from the 
Council’s offices.

Short-term

Utilise the Council’s assets in public car parks 
and open spaces for public EV charging points 
based on ‘park and charge’ and seek funding  
from Department for Transport, Energy Savings 
Trust and Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
funding scheme .

Medium-
term

EV charging 
opportunities 
identified 

Planning

Undertake a technological review of the 
Council’s current car parks strategy .

Short-term Review 
completed

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Planning Fleet report and 
a Fleet Transition 
Forward Plan 
report

Increase use of 
electric Council 
vehicles

Working with the Energy Savings Trust to 
commission a fleet report and a Fleet Transition 
Forward Plan report .

Short-term

In progress Trial completed 
and case study 
developed

Trial and use an electric vehicle in our parks 
departments to explore the suitability and 
demand .

Kick the Car Habit continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 77



Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  1514  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Signage 
improved and 
more people 
using the routes 
on foot .

Walkable 
and cyclable 
neighbourhoods

The Council is producing wayfinding signage, 
which will include maps and local information to 
help people explore Maldon town centre by foot . 
These signs will be located by the White Horse 
Lane and High Street East car parks .

Short-term

Prioritisation, 
funding, and 
implementation of 
CAMP projects

Central Area Master Plan (CAMP) Project has 
an emphasis on deterring car use in Maldon 
Town Centre and prioritising walking, cycling and 
public transport . The Council’s Commercial team 
to prioritise CAMP projects .

Continue to map and promote ‘Walk It Local’ 
routes in the District to local facilities and 
services, ensuring routes are accessible for all .

Maps produced 
and more people 
downloading the 
maps to use the 
routes on foot .

All new development to be landscape led to 
ensure off - road walking and cycling  
infrastructure is designed in via Policy D1 and 
the Maldon District Design Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document .

Medium-term Included 
in Local 
Development 
Plan (LDP)

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

     Pledge 02 - Create less waste
The Council’s ‘Create Less Waste’ pledge focuses on efforts to reduce the quantity of waste and increasing recycling rates . The ‘Create 
Less Waste’ actions for 2023/2024 are listed in the table 5 below:

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

Table 3 Create Less Waste pledge actions

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Climate 
Ambassador roles 
established within 
the Youth Council

Establish 
a business 
and youth 
engagement 
group to act as 
ambassadors, 
to promote new 
and established 
ways to re-use, 
reduce and 
recycle

The Council’s Community team will work with 
the schools and youth groups to develop a 
new Youth Council, linked to the One Maldon 
District (OMD) partnership, which will bring 
together representatives from the local statutory, 
voluntary, private and youth sectors . There will 
be Climate Ambassador roles within the Youth 
Council, which will have a focus on tackling 
aspects climate change locally .

Short-term

Assist in the planning and implementation of the 
Plume Academy’s ‘Let’s Talk Trash’ Event, which 
will take place in July 2023 . The event aims to 
engage young people and raise awareness of 
the climate challenge and the impacts of littering 
and waste .

Council helps run 
‘Let’s Talk Trash’ 
event . Increased 
climate challenge 
and the impacts of 
littering and waste

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

SPD Increase 
the level of 
involvement from 
Men’s Shed in 
community climate 
action projects

Encourage 
community 
upcycling, turn 
waste into art 
and link to 
culture

Support the Maldon Men’s Shed and involve 
them in community upcycling projects e .g ., green 
hearts campaign/community cupboards

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 
until event is 
complete

Kick the Car Habit continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 78



Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  1716  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 
started 
January 
2023 with a 
photo call 
and press 
release .

Reduction in food 
waste . Increased 
engagement with 
the Kitche app

Support & actively contribute to Love Essex, 
Love Food campaign . Future engagements 
include social media take over, bus back 
advertising, billboards, food reduction 
competitions, pledge to cut down on food waste 
and promotion of the Kitche app .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Results of 
‘Consistency 
of Collections’ 
consultation and 
recommendation 
on what facilities 
should be provided 
to all residents 
including flats

Improving the 
waste lifecycle 
so that we 
are managing 
waste more 
sustainably

Whilst most flats have existing recycling 
facilities, the range of material streams collected 
is of ten limited, capture rates are low, and 
contamination is high. The Council is finalising 
and documenting a review of recycling facilities 
in flats, which will include the results of a 
‘Consistency of Collections’ consultation .  
This will show what facilities should be provided 
to all residents including flats.

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly- 
Trial 
started 31st 
January

Successful rollout 
of the trial .

In partnership with Suez, the Council will 
run a soft plastic collection trial, initially to 
approximately 7,000 residents before rolling 
out to all households in the District by 2025 . 
This trial will allow the Council and Suez to 
understand the life cycle of soft plastic waste 
(including quantity, quality, cost, and challenges) .

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

Planning Development 
and approval of 
a business case 
for LoCO2

Home grown 
initiatives (from 
garden to table) 
and composting

Work with Abberton Rural Training to develop a 
business case for the LoCO2 kitchen . LoCO2 is 
a community kitchen that aims to teach residents 
about food production and cooking skills from 
garden to table . The kitchen would act as an  
influencer to encourage the community to adopt 
and think about their own carbon emissions and 
ways to make reductions .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Events Expression 
of Interest and 
Service Level 
Agreement to 
actively encourage 
sustainability at 
events

Reduction in 
waste

Reduce the environmental impacts of events 
by asking event organisers to use the ‘Hire or 
Use of Maldon District Council owned Open 
Spaces 2023 - Expression of Interest Form’ to 
demonstrate how they can make their events 
greener e .g ., no single use plastic, sustainable 
packaging, recycling provision at events etc .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Successful 
transition to 
sustainable 
packaging

From October 2023 the UK Government will 
introduce further bans on single-use plastics, 
including items such as plastic plates, trays, 
bowls, cutlery, balloon sticks, and certain 
types of polystyrene cups and food containers . 
The Council will inform and engage with local 
businesses to help them transition to more 
sustainable packaging .

Create less waste continued Create less waste continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 79



Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  1918  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030

     Pledge 03 - Show Nature we care
The Council’s ‘Show Nature We Care’ pledge focuses on our shared goals and aspirations for nature, biodiversity, health, and wellbeing . 
This pledge focuses actions to reduce CO2 through nature-based solutions, i .e ., absorption by trees, vegetation and soils as well as using 
nature benefits to help mitigate the effects of climate change whilst creating more inviting spaces for both residents and wildlife. The ‘Show 
Nature We Care’ actions for 2023/2024 are listed in the table 6 below:

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

Table 4 Show Nature We Care pledge actions

Planning District Green 
Spaces 
Management Plan 
produced

Protect & 
enhance 
Biodiversity in 
the Council’s 
estate

Support the new Lead Countryside & Coast  
Officer with the development of the District 
Green Spaces Management Plan .

Medium-term

Protect the 
District’s 
natural capital 
including 
coastal habitats, 
biodiversity, 
and natural 
greening

Pending Adoption of 
the Blackwater 
Partnership 
Strategy

Review and adopt the new Blackwater 
Partnership2 Strategy .

Short-term

Completion of 
review and report

Review of local wildlife sites to be included in the 
LDP review .

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 
reviewed 
quarterly

Evidence of the 
completion of 
actions including 
Member 
feedback

Continue 
to deliver 
air quality 
improvement 
via the Market 
Hill Air Quality 
Action Plan 
2020 -2025

Specific actions:

•  Re-evaluate the Air Quality Action Plan 
 (AQAP) and the timescales for various 
 actions in line with the successful DEFRA  
 bid: and 

•  Prioritise the AQAP actions against available 
 resources .

Present rating to Members for consideration .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment 
produced

Carry out a 
strategic flood 
risk assessment 
as part of the 
LDP review

Complete the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(SFRA), which will include climate change 
modelling . The SFRA will be used to inform 
the LDP review and subsequently advise the 
planning application process .

Planning Water Cycle 
study completed

Conduct a District Water Cycle study for the  
LDP review .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Prioritisation plan 
completed

The CAMP Project has emphasis on ‘sites’ 
where flood ‘resilience’ infrastructure is required 
‘in the District’s largest employment area’ and 
within Flood Zone 3a and as such the Council 
will prioritise the actions within the Causeway 
Flood Risk Assessment .

2 The Blackwater Partnership brings together a range of experts and stakeholders, including Maldon District Council, that work together to influence, fund, support and deliver impactful nature 
and biodiversity projects . The partnership broadly covering the Blackwater and Colne estuaries, and the Dengie .

Show nature we care continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 80



20  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030 Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  21

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Increased 
number of trees 
planted

Plant more trees, 
and support 
rewilding, 24% 
of the district is 
woodland

Continue to promote tree planting schemes such 
as the Essex Forest Initiative and Woodland 
Trust to the parish and town councils, community 
groups and the wider community .

Short-term

Planning GI projects 
prioritised

Deliver Maldon 
District Green 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 2019 
projects

Work with the new Lead Countryside & Coast  
Officer to review and prioritise Maldon District 
Green Infrastructure Strategy (MDGIS) projects .

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 
until event 
has taken 
place

Successful 
implementation 
of events

The Council will be running a series of events 
that have been developed from the activities 
within the MDGIS action plan, these include: 
• UFEST - Community Festival; and 
• Ride London 2023 .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Increasing in 
number of litters 
picking activities

Link exercise to 
waste – jogging, 
walking and 
litter picks, path 
clearing clubs

Support and promote existing and new litter 
picking activities across the District through the 
provision of equipment, collection of litter and 
sharing details through our communications 
channels .

Short-term

Development 
of proposal for 
Green and blue 
Prescribing

Work in partnership with the Maldon CVS and 
Active Essex to develop a proposal for a Green 
and Blue Prescribing project . Green and Blue 
prescribing is a nature-based health programme 
that aims to both improve health and promoting 
pro-environmental behaviours .

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Renewable 
Energy SPD’s

Welcome 
solar farm 
developments

Develop renewable energy SPDs for large 
stand-alone sites and for small developments . 
To include geographic information system (GIS) 
mapping of suitable sites in the district .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Reduction in total 
number of cuts  
per annum

Mow the grass 
less frequently

Delay the first cutting of the District’s road-side 
verges to allow wildflowers to grow naturally.

Reduced grass cutting in District parks to 
compensate for extreme weather conditions  
e .g ., recent long dry spells .

Medium-term

Planning Share project 
results data

Identify how we 
actively carbon 
capture

Track the Essex Seagrass Projects in the 
Maldon District e .g ., St Lawrence Bay seagrass 
project .

Medium-term

Track the National Trust Coastal adaptation 
project at Northey Island .

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Feedback from 
Blackwater 
Chelmer nature 
reserve

Support nature 
& ecology 
education and 
research at all 
levels via the 
Maldon District 
Council estate

Support and promote the Blackwater Chelmer 
Nature Reserve BioBlitz event .

Short-term

Nature and 
Ecology roles 
established

Help the proposed OMD Youth Council develop 
Climate Ambassadors roles with a focus on 
nature and ecology .

Show nature we care continued Show nature we care continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 81



  

22  I  Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030 Maldon District Council’s  Climate Action Strategy 2021-2030  I  23

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Relationship 
established with 
the North Essex 
Farm 

Cluster District 
specific data 
shared through 
communications

Support 
sustainable 
farming - promote 
ecological 
methods and  
local practices 
that are 
economically 
viable, 
environmentally 
sound and  
protect public 
health

Support the work being carried out by ECC and 
the North Essex Farm Cluster, which includes 
farms located in the upper Blackwater area of 
the Maldon District .

Promote events that are being run by the North 
Essex Farm Cluster .

Medium-term
     Pledge 04 - Be a Council That Leads 
by Example
We recognise that to ask others to make the necessary changes to their organisations and lives, we must be seen to be leading on making 
these changes ourselves . By seeking to reduce our carbon footprint, we can offer advice and share best practice to make it easier for 
others to follow, signposting to other leaders along the way . Table 7 sets our actions to ‘Be a Council That Leads by Example’ 2023/2024:

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Production of a 
carbon reduction 
checklist

Identify areas 
for carbon 
reduction 
across the 
Council estate 
(existing 
and future 
buildings)

Review our existing assets to improve building  
efficiency. The Council will use the data 
to develop a carbon reduction checklist to 
maximise opportunities to decarbonise assets 
when carrying out repairs .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 
until project 
is finished

Eco-friendly unit 
provided

Provision of an eco-friendly unit at Drapers 
Farm for the Men’s Shed . The Council will 
work with the suppliers to make sure the unit 
is climate resilient and energy efficient, and 
that their construction has a low impact on the 
environment .

Short-term

Planning Production of a 
roadmap report

Commission a roadmap towards Net Zero by 
2030 . This will allow the Council to identify areas 
for carbon reduction across the Council estate 
(existing and future buildings) 

Medium-term

Show nature we care continued

Table 5 Be a Council That Leads by Example pledge actions

APPENDIX 1

P
age 82



Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24  I  2524  I  Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 
until policy 
is adopted

Production of a 
‘Procurement 
Social Value 
Policy’

Procure 
services from 
companies that 
demonstrate 
sustainability 
and support 
the Council’s 
net zero carbon 
ambitions

Develop a ‘Procurement Social Value Policy’ 
for approval and adoption . Climate action to be 
embedded into the Council’s social value  
framework .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
annually

Increase 
insustainable 
practices

Work with event organisers to encourage the 
adoption of sustainable practices for events held 
in District parks and open spaces .

Long-term

In progress 
reviewed 
annually

Development 
of Expression 
of Interest to 
include necessary 
climate action 
requirements

Annual review of the ‘Hire or Use of Maldon 
District Council owned Open Spaces 2023 - 
Expression of Interest Form’ to ensure event 
organisers are considering sustainable and low 
carbon options .

Medium-term

Planning Climate 
action training 
developed

Upskill and  
train staff in 
relevant areas  
of expertise 
Upskill and  
train staff in 
relevant areas  
of expertise

Development of climate action induction for new 
starters and as a refresher for existing staff  .

Short-term

Planning Crib sheet 
produced and 
uploaded to the 
wellbeing hub

Create supporting materials to help staff 
complete their climate action smart objectives

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly 

Caring for our 
Climate section 
of the staff 
wellbeing hub 

Developing the ‘Caring for our Climate’ section 
of the staff wellbeing hub to provide regular 
updates on member and staff training, changes 
in legislation, local projects and activities and 
climate action events

Short-term

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Updated District 
data added to 
the 2024/2025 
action plan

Carbon Action 
performance 
reporting

Review carbon emissions data sources for the 
District and report annually, including emissions 
associated with working from home .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Climate action 
updates to the 
Council’s Project

Ensure 
Council project 
management 
processes 
comply with 
CAS

Continue to review the Project Management  
Office (PMO) processes to ensure they are in 
line with the actions set out in the Climate  
Action Strategy .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Successful 
collaboration and 
communication 
with Town and 
Parish Councils 
on climate action 
work .

Support Town 
and Parish 
Councils - help 
them to lead by 
example

Include climate action in our refreshed approach 
to the Town parish and Parish town council 
forum .

Include regular updates on:  
•  funding opportunities; 
•  training opportunities; and 
•  resources available to help develop local  
 action plans and policies .

Short-term

Be a Council the leads the by example continued Be a Council the leads the by example continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 83



Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24  I  2726  I  Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24

      Pledge 05 - Develop a strong policy 
commitment to Climate Action
Our policies and strategies define our goals and provide guidance about how to achieve objectives. It is important that our policy reflect our 
commitment to the CAS . Table 8 sets out our policy commitment for climate action in 2023/2024:

       

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Staff updated 
and able to 
incorporate 
a greener 
future into their 
activities .

Identify areas 
for carbon 
reduction 
across the 
Council estate 
(existing 
and future 
buildings)

Share the refreshed Corporate Plan (CP) with 
staff. Specifically, our aims for a greener future 
and how the CP objectives deliver on the actions 
set out in CAS .

Short-term

In progress 
due 
2025/2026

Updated Local 
Plan produced  
and adopted

Update the Local Development Plan Planning 
Policies to include more expectations for net 
zero e .g ., lower carbon in development, walkable 
neighbourhoods, biodiversity net gain, flood risk 
protection and water cycle

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Evidence of local 
Maldon District 
CAS in

Influence the updates to the Essex Minerals 
Plan, Essex Waste Local Plan and Essex 
Transport Plan so they support local climate 
action in the District .

Short-term

Table 6 Develop a strong policy commitment to Climate Action 

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Evidence of 
change aligned 
to the Maldon 
District Design 
Guide and best 
practice

Influence 
positive change 
through the 
Essex Design 
Guide and 
Maldon District 
Design Guide

Continue to influence change through Maldon 
District Design Guide and refer to the Essex 
Design Guide for guidance and best practice . 
Attend Essex Planning Officers Association 
meetings to gain an insight into Essex wide 
activities and best practice .

Long-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Renewable 
energy SPDs 
developed and 
included in Local 
Plan update

Understand 
future planning 
and development 
impacts, e.g. 
Greenfield to 
brownfield land 
use (farm land 
used as solar 
farms, change of 
status at the end 
of lease period).

Develop renewable energy SPDs for large 
stand-alone sites and for small developments . 
To include geographic information system (GIS) 
mapping of suitable sites in the District .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Evidence of 
partnership 
working with 
ECC

Lobby 
government to 
change building 
regulations and 
provide greater 
certainty on its 
energy mix for  
net zero

Continue to feed into ECC responses on  
national legislation .

Long-term

Develop a strong policy commitment to Climate Action continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 84



Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24  I  2928  I  Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24

Action Co-benefit Our focused activities Timescale Status Output

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Climate action 
updates to the 
Council’s PMO 
processes 
reported

Ensure all 
Council 
strategies and 
projects deliver 
climate action

The Council will continue to review the PMO 
processes to ensure they are in line with the 
actions set out in the CAS .

Medium-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Documentation 
of environmental 
benefits/impacts 
of all process 
improvement 
works

Review possible environmental benefits/impacts 
of process improvement works .

Long-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Reduction in car 
use for work

Encourage hybrid approach to work to reduce 
reliance on car travel .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Revised Human 
Resources Code 
of Conduct

Human Resources Code of Conduct being 
reviewed to consider various matters including 
impact on the environment .

Short-term

In progress 
reviewed 
quarterly

Checklist 
developed

Develop a Climate Action Policy Development 
Checklist as guidance for when officers are 
reviewing policy .

Short-term

Monitoring  
and reporting
The actions within the 2023/2024 CAP will be monitored 
and reported quarterly through the Council’s 
Performance, Governance & Audit processes.

Develop a strong policy commitment to Climate Action continued

APPENDIX 1

P
age 85



Market lacks capacity to deliver large scale 
programs

Work with employers and training providers to develop capacity and skills; fund 
programs to stimulate the market

Figure 1 The Carbon Management  Hierarchy  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 2

Figure 2 The Climate Action Pledges   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

Figure 3 Co-benefit symbols and examples  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5

List of Tables 
Table 3 Engagement  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .6

Table 4 Kick the car habit pledge actions  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .7

Table 5 Create less waste pledge actions   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .9

Table 6 Show nature we care pledge actions   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .11

Table 7 Be a Council that leads by example  
pledge actions  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 15

Table 8 Develop a strong policy commitment  
to Climate Action actions  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 18

Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24  I  3130  I  Maldon District Council’s Climate Action Plan 2023/24

Risks to delivery List of Figures

Lack of engagement by Maldon district 
residents and resistance to change

Prioritise engagement in delivery through a communications campaign, the CAF, 
and Climate Action Partnerships

Key risk Mitigation

National policy does not facilitate delivery 
locally/keeps changing

Lobby national government: keep strategy and delivery plans flexible; review 
regularly; prioritise ‘no regrets’ measures which will yield benefits in a range of 
scenarios

Lack of political support Ensure cross-party support; regular briefings/updates

Delays to timeline for delivery Update on progress and any issues quarterly

Difficulties embedding climate objectives  
in all Council decisions

Develop new decision-making tools and processes

Lack of resources to deliver action plan Plan and prioritise actions to ensure adequate officer resources to effectively 
deliver these, access training and best practice networks to optomise skills 
needed for delivery and work with volunteers for delivery on the ground

APPENDIX 1

P
age 86



Contact: Claire Williamson, Climate Action Lead Officer. 
caf@maldon .gov .uk

APPENDIX 1

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, PERFORMANCE AND GOVERNANCE  

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
16 MARCH 2023 
 
DELIVERING THE CORPORATE PLAN 2023-2027 PRIORITY - ‘HELPING THE 
ECONOMY TO THRIVE’  

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 To update Members regarding the ongoing and new activity to deliver the Corporate 1.1

Priority of ‘Helping the Economy to Thrive’. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
(i) That Members note further briefings will be offered regarding:  

 Supporting local businesses and inward investment; 

 Tourism and the visitor economy; 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) and Rural England Prosperity 
Fund (REPF) funded activity. 

 
(ii) that Members note the Council’s Maldon District T23 Tourism Group has 

commenced;   
 

(iii) That Members endorse the delivery of the UKSPF year one Maldon Market 
recovery project and the partnership with Rural Community Council of Essex 
to deliver the REPF. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 Members will be aware that we continue to be in a period of significant economic 3.1

uncertainty. It is therefore important that the Council, in partnership with others, does 
what it can to support our local economy to provide clarity, representation, support, 
promotion and help. 

 
 This report is aligned with the approved Corporate Plan 2023-2027 to provide 3.2

reassurance and high-level clarity on the activity being undertaken. It should be 
recognised it is not intended as an exhaustive list and more comprehensive Member 
briefings are proposed. 
 

 Attract new businesses to locate, grow and thrive across the district 3.3
 

3.3.1 Officers are pleased to announce the launch of the District’s Investment Prospectus, 
our first investment and business facing microsite www.LocateMaldonDistrict.co.uk 
(Local Maldon District (LMD)). 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7

http://www.locatemaldondistrict.co.uk/


3.3.2 LMD announces the District’s ambitions for business investment, growth and support. 
It is a celebration of our strategic location, coastal and rural identity and quality of life 
offer to new and growing businesses. 

 
3.3.3 LMD provides the Council with a co-ordinated approach to supporting inward 

investment and maximising business growth. 
 

 Promote the district as a quality and inclusive tourism destination 3.4
 

3.4.1 Tourism remains a vital part of our overall economy and it is important we continue to 
support this valuable sector enabling it to grow and thrive. 

 
3.4.2 Following initial workshop events held last year, the Council has now supported the 

formation of the Maldon District Tourism Group (T23). This Group will assist in the 
development and launch of a new Tourism Framework ensuring the District is well 
placed to continue to grow and flourish responsibly and sustainably with a strategic 
approach. It is hoped the T23 will become enabling and self-supporting, with the 
ability to progress its own initiatives for the betterment of the sector, also positively 
benefitting our resident's quality of life 

 
3.4.3 The Tourism Framework will provide clarity on the core tourism functions of the 

Council, aligned with the Council’s Events and Concession Strategy 2023-2028.  
 

 Support growth, sustainability and skills generation  3.5
 
3.5.1 The Supporting Local Business Programme will build on the most successful parts of 

the former Sense of Place Business Network. Please note: The “Maldon District 
(Sense of Place) Brand” remains unaffected by this change. 

 
3.5.2 The Supporting Local Business Programme includes, a business focused 

communications plan, coordinated business engagement with partners / stakeholders 
and officers and support good quality, ‘business aware’ services internally. 

 
 Help high streets and rural businesses to adapt to challenges 3.6

 
3.6.1 The UKSPF and REPF present a significant opportunity for the Council to support the 

District’s economy and businesses.    
 
3.6.2 Identified as part of the Council’s UKSPF’s year one Investment Plan, the Maldon 

Market recovery commission will explore options to revitalise the current market and 
increase footfall whilst being sympathetic to the existing high street offer. 
 

3.6.3 Members will be aware Maldon District has been allocated £430,328 from the REPF 
on a 100% capital basis with no management or administration funding. Officers 
have approached the Rural Community Council of Essex and together propose a 
partnership bid to the Magnox Socio-Economic Fund. This additional funding will 
support and enhance the delivery to ensure maximum benefit to our communities. 

 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 The Investment Prospectus (LMD), Tourism Framework, Supporting Local Business 4.1

Programme and UKSPF / REPF investment plans demonstrate the volume and 
quality of work being planned and progressed to help the economy thrive. 

Page 90



5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 The work identified supports the Council’s Corporate Plan 2023-2027 priority of 5.1

‘Helping the Economy to Thrive’.  
 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – Aligned with the draft Corporate Plan 2023-2027 

this approach will improve our understanding of how the delivery of our 
services effect our ability to have positive relationships with our local 
businesses. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – LMD has been designed to meet the internationally 
recognised Web Content Accessibility Guidelines. The T23 is an inclusive 
group, open to all relevant business owners. Accessibility has already been 
identified as a priority for the Tourism Framework and T23. The Supporting 
Local Business Programme is designed to be accessible to all. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – Resolves the Corporate Risk of failure to have co-ordinated 
approach to supporting inward investment and maximising business rate 
growth. Reduces the Corporate Risk of failure to develop jobs to support the 
growing population.  
 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – All activity will be funded from existing 
budgets or grant funding. 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – All activity will be undertaken by existing 
establishment. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – The business focused communication plan 
will include support for Climate Action Strategy aligned work. 

 
(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities – Relevant projects will seek to 

ensure the Council strengthens engagement with communities to shape and 
deliver significant benefits from outputs. 

 
 
Background Papers:  
The Supporting Local Business Programme 
The T23 Terms of Reference  
Strategy and Resources Committee 4 July 2022 – UK Shared Prosperity and Levelling Up 
Funding Update 
Strategy and Resources Committee 10 November 2022 - Rural England Prosperity Fund 
 
Enquiries to: Jack Ellum, Strategic Theme Lead – Prosperity. 

Page 91

https://democracy.maldon.gov.uk/documents/s27958/8%20UK%20Shared%20Prosperity%20and%20Levelling%20Up%20Funding%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.maldon.gov.uk/documents/s27958/8%20UK%20Shared%20Prosperity%20and%20Levelling%20Up%20Funding%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.maldon.gov.uk/documents/s28961/Rural%20England%20Prosperity%20Fund.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a 26 January 2023
	Minutes
	 Appendix 1

	3b 9 February 2023 (continuation of meeting on 26 January 2023)
	Minutes
	 Appendix 1

	6 Climate Action Plan for 2023 / 24
	Appendix 1

	7 Delivering the Corporate Plan 2023 - 2027 Priority - 'Helping the Economy to Thrive'
	10 Legal Action and Debt Recovery
	11 Burnham-on-Crouch - Long Lease Agreement



